





CONVENTION ON BIOLOGICAL DIVERSITY

Distr. GENERAL

UNEP/CBD/COP/7/INF/22 15 December 2003

ENGLISH ONLY

CONFERENCE OF THE PARTIES TO THE CONVENTION ON BIOLOGICAL DIVERSITY Seventh meeting Kuala Lumpur, 9-20 and 27 February 2004 Items 9, 11, 21 and 26 of the provisional agenda*

CONSIDERATION OF THE RESULTS OF THE MEETING ON "2010 – THE GLOBAL BIODIVERSITY CHALLENGE"

Meeting report

Note by the Executive Secretary

The Executive Secretary is circulating herewith, for the information of participants in the seventh meeting of the Conference of the Parties, the report of the meeting "2010 – The Global Biodiversity Challenge", which was held in London from 21 to 23 May 2003. The report is being reproduced in the form and the language in which it was received by the Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity.

UNEP/CBD/COP/7/1 and Corr.1.



CONVENTION ON BIOLOGICAL DIVERSITY







2010 - The Global Biodiversity Challenge 21 - 23 May 2003 London, United Kingdom

MEETING REPORT

CONTENTS

	TION	
MANDATE	FOR THE 2010 TARGET	4
BACKGROU	JND TO THE MEETING	5
PREPARATI	ION FOR THE MEETING	5
PROGRAMN	ME OF THE MEETING	6
DISCUSSIO	N AND RECOMMENDATIONS	6
A.	Definitions	7
B.	Communication	7
C.	Measurement and assessment needs	
D.	Indicators and indicator frameworks	
E.	Reporting	11
F.	Building on existing mandates and processes	13
G.	Understanding and applying multiple targets and goals, and the developm	nent of sub-
	targets	
Н.	Cross-sectoral collaboration.	
I.	Capacity building and technical support	
J.	Funding	
K.	Partnerships	
SUMMARY	OF KEY POINTS	
NEXT STEP		
A.	Immediate follow-up	
B.	Recommendations specific to the CBD Secretariat	
C.	Recommendations specific to national governments	
D	Recommendations specific to other organizations and initiatives	19













INTRODUCTION

- 1. The year 2002 was a very significant year for the conservation and sustainable use of biodiversity for two key reasons. Firstly the international community adopted the far-reaching goal of significantly reducing the rate of biodiversity loss by the year 2010, and secondly the World Summit on Sustainable Development (WSSD) recognized that biodiversity plays a critical role in achieving sustainable development and poverty eradication. WSSD also acknowledged the key role of the Convention on Biological Diversity in the conservation and sustainable use of biological diversity, and the fair and equitable sharing of benefits arising from the use of genetic resources.
- 2. In May 2003, the Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity, the UNEP World Conservation Monitoring Centre and the United Nations Development Programme jointly convened a meeting to review the 2010 target with the aim of better understanding the target and how its achievement, or otherwise, could be assessed. This is the report of that meeting. Additional financial support for the meeting was provided by the Governments of the Netherlands and the United Kingdom, and by the United Nations Environment Programme, and some participants were also supported by BirdLife International, the Royal Society for the Protection of Birds and The Nature Conservancy.

MANDATE FOR THE 2010 TARGET

- 3. The meeting was a direct response to decision VI/26 adopted at the sixth meeting of the Conference of the Parties in April 2002. In that decision, the Conference of the Parties adopted the Strategic Plan for the Convention, which commits Parties to "achieve by 2010 a significant reduction of the current rate of biodiversity loss at the global, regional and national level as a contribution to poverty alleviation and to the benefit of all life on earth". The Strategic Plan also commits Parties to a more effective and coherent implementation of the three objectives of the Convention.
- 4. In addition, the Ministers responsible for the implementation of the Convention met on 17 and 18 April 2002 on the occasion of the sixth meeting of the Conference of the Parties to the Convention on Biological Diversity to discuss *inter alia* the role and contribution of the Convention to the World Summit on Sustainable Development. In the resulting *Ministerial Declaration*, the Ministers resolved to "strengthen ... efforts to put in place measures to halt biodiversity loss ... at the global, regional, subregional and national levels by the year 2010" (paragraph 11). The Ministerial Declaration further called on the World Summit on Sustainable Development to "reconfirm the commitment to have instruments in place to stop and reverse the current alarming biodiversity loss at the global, regional, sub-regional and national levels by the year 2010" (paragraph 15d).
- 5. At the World Summit on Sustainable Development, which took place in Johannesburg, South Africa in August/September 2002, governments adopted a *Plan of Implementation*_which reconfirmed the role of the Convention as the key instrument for the conservation and sustainable use of biological diversity and the fair and equitable sharing of benefits arising from its use. With respect to the 2010 target, the WSSD Plan of Implementation recognizes that "the achievement by 2010 of a significant reduction in the current rate of loss of biological diversity will require the provision of new and additional financial and technical resources" (paragraph 44).
- 6. In addition to endorsing the 2010 target, the World Summit also recognized the critical role played by biodiversity in overall sustainable development and poverty eradication. With the UN Secretary General's WEHAB initiative, biodiversity concerns were squarely at the top of the sustainable development agenda. For the first time outside the context of the Convention, biodiversity was recognized, together with water, energy, health and agriculture as a basic necessity for life, leading to the wider acceptance of the importance of biodiversity and ecosystem services in achieving the Millennium Development Goals. This provides the basis for linking the 2010 target more effectively to the wider human development agenda.

BACKGROUND TO THE MEETING

- 7. While the international community had agreed that "biodiversity loss" constitutes a serious challenge at the global, regional and national levels, there is as yet no commonly agreed set of monitoring and assessment procedures or parameters that can be used to measure either how much biodiversity there is, nor how much is being lost at genetic, species or ecosystem levels.
- 8. The challenge posed by the 2010 target clearly underlines the need for effective and well-coordinated monitoring mechanisms, complemented by innovative assessment tools to facilitate the generation of consistent and comprehensive evaluation of progress towards the achievement of this target.
- 9. Currently there are many different assessments and measurements being undertaken by a wide range of local, national, regional and global institutions and programmes. However, these assessments tend to focus on specific components of biodiversity with limited coordination or inter-linkages, and in consequence there are many duplications as well as considerable gaps.
- 10. In addition to the 2010 target, the international community has agreed to a wide range of other relevant targets and in some cases, targets that are specific to biodiversity. These include the 16 outcome-oriented targets of the CBD's Global Strategy for Plant Conservation, the Millennium Development Goals, the targets in the WSSD Plan of Implementation, WWF's marine conservation targets, the WWF/World Bank Forest Alliance targets, among others. Some of these targets are listed in Annex III. It is envisaged that the achievement of these targets will ultimately contribute to the achievement of the 2010 target.
- 11. In fact there are many initiatives at both national and international level that are addressing these targets directly or indirectly, in particular the CBD programmes of work and other biodiversity-related Conventions. Each of these initiatives is also reporting on measures and actions being taken, and in a number of cases on what their actions are achieving. However they are rarely assessing or reporting on rates of loss of biodiversity.
- 12. It is widely acknowledged that there needs to be increased collaboration between all stakeholders to ensure co-ordinated action to achieve the internationally adopted biodiversity-related targets, and to understand the degree to which they are being achieved. The achievement of the 2010 target requires an integrated and multi-stakeholder approach, possible strategic and operational re-orientation of on-going procedures to overcome identified obstacles, and a shift in emphasis from assessments to a combination of both assessments and actions. In recognition of these considerations and challenges and the need to operationalize the commitments that emerged from COP-6 and WSSD, the meeting was convened to find internationally acceptable and scientifically credible ways of achieving these commitments within the limited timeframe available.

PREPARATION FOR THE MEETING

- 13. In March 2003, the CBD Secretariat organized side events in the margins of the 8th meeting of Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice (SBSTTA) and the *Open-ended Inter-sessional meeting on the Multi-year Programme of Work for the Conference of the Parties up to 2010* (MYPOW), to discuss the significance of the 2010 target and efforts required to monitor and assess progress in achieving this target. The aim of these discussions was to support development of the programme of the May meeting. All SBSTTA and MYPOW participants were invited to participate in these side events and contribute to the discussions.
- 14. The MYPOW meeting welcomed the initiative of the Executive Secretary, and the support provided by the UNEP World Conservation Monitoring Centre, to organize a meeting from 21 to 23 May

2003, on the occasion of International Biodiversity Day, on "2010 – the Biodiversity Challenge" in collaboration with other partners to identify ways and means, including priority measures for:

- a) Achieving the target of significantly reducing the rate of biodiversity loss by 2010
- b) Measuring achievements
- c) Reporting on progress
- 15. Parties to the Convention and other Governments and biodiversity-related conventions, as well as relevant organizations were invited by MYPOW to participate in, and contribute to, this initiative and the Executive Secretary was requested to report on the outcome of this initiative at the ninth meeting of the Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice so as to enable the Subsidiary Body to provide the Conference of the Parties at its seventh meeting with advice on follow-up activities.
- 16. In May 2003, The Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity in partnership with the World Conservation Monitoring Centre of the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP-WCMC) and the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) convened an international meeting on "2010 The Global Biodiversity Challenge" to articulate a framework for action for addressing the internationally agreed target of reducing the current rate of biodiversity loss by the year 2010. The meeting which was held in London, from 21 to 23 May 2003, brought together over 150 participants including Government nominated experts and representatives of biodiversity-related conventions, UN agencies, academic and research institutions, industry/business sector, local and indigenous communities, international and other relevant governmental and non-governmental organizations. A list of participants in provided in annex I.

PROGRAMME OF THE MEETING

- 17. The overall aims of the meeting were twofold, to articulate a framework for action for addressing the 2010 target, and to raise awareness of the target with a wide range of international organizations and processes. Specific objectives were to:
 - a) Review approaches for understanding and measuring biodiversity loss;
 - b) Review the 2010 target in the context of other biodiversity-related targets;
- c) Identify key initiatives in addressing biodiversity loss (such as MEAs) and how they relate to the 2010 target; and
 - d) Explore and identify the most appropriate approaches to reporting on progress.
- 18. Following a half-day session to introduce participants to the aims of the meeting and provide a focus and context of the key issues for discussion, a greater part of the meeting was devoted to discussions in four breakout groups focusing on these four objectives. This report is based on the outcome of the breakout group discussions, as well as key issues that emerged from the plenary presentations and discussions. A copy of the agenda is appended as annex 2.

DISCUSSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

19. While the objectives of the meeting provided a valuable focus for discussions in each of the breakout groups, the reports of the group discussions indicated that there was an element of overlap with the result that some issues were covered by two or more breakout groups but to different levels of detail. *Indicators*, for example, came up in discussions on *understanding and measuring biodiversity loss*; reporting; and multiple targets. The report and analysis of the discussions is therefore organized around key issues rather than around the objectives per se.

- 20. There were two specific recommendations of the meeting that are important in orienting appreciation of the outcomes:
- a) It was agreed that the whole process for assessing progress in achieving the 2010 target should be CBD-led and not CBD-centered. In other words, the CBD has a central role to play both in terms of its mandate and breadth of action at national and international levels, but there are many other important initiatives at all levels that have the potential to contribute to the achievement of the target, and should be encouraged to do so. CBD needs to play a leadership role, and to facilitate and focus action in partnership with many other organizations and initiatives.
- b) It needs to be understood that while 2010 is undoubtedly an important target, the efforts of the international community to reduce the rate of biodiversity loss should continue well beyond the year 2010. These efforts and the related monitoring and reporting actions should be designed to respond to 2010 as an important milestone rather than an end in itself.

A. Definitions

- 21. **Biodiversity** is defined in the text of the Convention on Biological Diversity as: "the variability among living organisms from all sources including, *inter alia*, terrestrial, marine and other aquatic ecosystems and the ecological complexes of which they are part; this includes diversity within species, between species and of ecosystems".
- 22. **Loss of biodiversity** is not defined in the text of the Convention. It is a concept that reaches beyond extinction, with spatial and temporal dimensions, covering, *inter alia*:
 - a) Decline in extent, condition or sustainable productivity of ecosystems;
 - b) Decline in abundance, distribution or sustainable use of populations, and species extinctions;
 - c) Genetic erosion.
- 23. For the purpose of addressing the 2010 target, the meeting proposed two definitions of loss of biodiversity, one being technically focused for the scientific community, and the other written in a language that is more accessible and appropriate for wider use.
- a) For *scientific use*, loss of biodiversity is: "the long term or permanent qualitative or quantitative reduction in components of biodiversity and their potential to provide goods and services, to be measured at global, regional and national levels."
- b) For a more *general usage*, loss of biodiversity is defined as: "the long term reduction of abundance and distribution of species, ecosystems and genes and the goods and services they provide."
- 24. Changes in the rate of biodiversity loss can only be measured if there are comparable, multiple observations over time. Baselines are necessary as starting points for the observations and to give meaning to the information. It was agreed that an appropriate baseline rate for biodiversity loss would be that for the 1990s, with a second rate for the 2000s and a third at 2010. These three points would form the minimum requirement for looking at the changes in rates. Where data exists over a longer timeframe for particular indicators, these should be considered on a case-by-case basis.

B. Communication

25. There are many initiatives, both national and international, that demonstrate global biodiversity losses, and there is clear evidence that biodiversity loss at current rates is impairing global life support systems and human development options. However, this evidence has not so far sufficiently influenced policy-makers, particularly in mainstream development sectors, to undertake proportional actions, and biodiversity loss is continuing. It remains essential for the "biodiversity community" to find ways to *make biodiversity relevant* to politicians and to those in other sectors. The biodiversity community has not yet

adequately made the case that failing to meet the biodiversity target will have significant implications for life on earth, and for the economic and social well-being of people.

- 26. The biodiversity community should see the outcome of WSSD as a *global wake-up call*, bringing the decisions taken at the sixth meeting of the CBD Conference of Parties earlier in 2002 to the attention of a far wider range of stakeholders. Means must be found to use the internationally adopted 2010 target to improve communication of the importance of biodiversity to all sectors.
- 27. The meeting therefore called for the development and implementation of a coherent *communication strategy* to effectively communicate the impacts of biodiversity loss and the actions being taken to meet the 2010 target. The strategy should provide linkages between these actions, including monitoring and reporting processes, to current national concerns. The communication strategy would:
 - a) Present clear, policy-relevant and scientifically credible messages on *trends* in biodiversity;
- b) Pay strong attention to the *impacts* of the current rates of biodiversity loss on ecosystem goods and services, and human well-being;
 - c) Relate closely to current *national concerns* in relevant sectors;
- d) Identify *inter-relationships* with relevant WSSD targets, the Millennium Development Goals, and the UN Secretary General's "WEHAB" initiative; and
- e) Improve *coherence* between national and international assessment and reporting relating to the target.
- 28. In developing and implementing such a communications strategy, it was recommended that the following issues should be taken into account:
- a) A good case has often been made for *intrinsic values* of biodiversity (for example for *flagship* species), but the meaning of this in relation to the development and economic sectors as well as other sectors is poorly understood and even more poorly communicated.
- b) It is important to demonstrate the *economic, social and ecological consequences of biodiversity loss*, and one effective way of doing this is the development of different options with well-articulated cost and impact statements for each (drawing on experience from the reports of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change).
- c) Communication may be improved by emphasising *user values and ecosystem services* as well as intrinsic values of biodiversity, although the choice of the best vehicle will vary from one case to another.
- d) Effectively used, *indicators* are effective communication tools, simplifying and quantifying complex scientific information for policy audiences.
- 29. It was recognized that *the term "biodiversity* or "biological diversity" remains a problem in communication, and is frequently misinterpreted, or only part of its full meaning conveyed. There is a need to market the concept more effectively, linking it to everyday life, and giving practical examples of how biodiversity management, ecosystem functions and conservation relate to development and poverty reduction. Means for doing this need to be actively considered.
- 30. All of the above may lead to the development of a *global campaign* to raise awareness of the biodiversity target and its relevance and importance to all sectors of society. It was further suggested that such a campaign could be led by a global agency with the experience in this field, such as UNESCO.

C. Measurement and assessment needs

31. Data of value in assessing progress in achieving the 2010 target already exists although much of this data is incomplete or fragmented. In addition, there are a number of *processes that already monitor*

some components of biodiversity at national, regional and global levels. It is therefore recommended that institutions and groups already working on data and information relevant to assessing progress in achievement of the 2010 target, take into account of the findings of this meeting, and consider ways in which their data can be effectively used in monitoring and reporting on progress in achieving the target.

- 32. At all levels there is a need *to make the biodiversity data that exists more readily accessible* and available in a timely manner. Actions to achieve this would include:
 - a) disseminating information in *appropriate formats* for potential users;
 - b) using best-practice in information management and dissemination;
- c) supporting the development and implementation of tools, standards and protocols for *data* exchange that allow more effective sharing of information;
- d) establishing *inter-operable* electronic databases that allow for more effective integration of information from multiple sources in real time;
- e) improving use of the *Internet* as a tool for access and dissemination of biodiversity data, including increasing access to the Internet;
- f) reviewing the *adequacy* of the existing data, assessing gaps and the action that needs to be taken to fill them.
- 33. While it is well recognized that biodiversity has both intrinsic values and utility values, our understanding of, and ability to measure, utility values is far less well developed and used. It is essential to develop and apply practical methods of *assessing trends in the economic and social value of biodiversity*.
- 34. Similarly, while methods of demonstrating biodiversity loss have been well developed over a long period of time, less well understood and communicated are the ecological, societal and economic consequences of that loss. It is essential to develop and apply practical methods of *demonstrating the economic, social and ecological consequences of biodiversity loss*.
- 35. It is important to improve *awareness of the availability of biodiversity data*, and of its importance, by, for example, developing demonstrations on mobilization of biodiversity data for practical uses and decision-making (e.g. building predictive models of the impact of climate change, alien invasive species, spread of diseases, planning of protected areas, etc.)
- 36. Assessment of biodiversity loss should take account of the *ecosystem approach*, as losses need to be understood in terms of ecosystem processes, functions and management, the cross-sectoral interactions, and the impacts on life support systems. Conversely, implementation of the ecosystem approach should take account of the need to understand biodiversity loss and its potential impact.
- 37. Analysis is also needed of the *processes that drive biodiversity loss*, and of the resulting threats to biodiversity. These drivers of change in biodiversity are development-related, and the need to engage with the development processes and initiatives in the context of cross-sectoral cooperation, is particularly crucial to the success of efforts aimed at achieving the 2010 target. Equally important is the need to carry out regular assessments of the extent to which governments and others respond to biodiversity loss, and more specifically the nature and scope of the actions that are being taken as a direct response to the rates of loss in biodiversity.
- 38. Reference was made to the *Global Life Observation System* mooted at the March 2003 London meeting on biodiversity and the MDGs, <u>1</u>/ and its potential value in monitoring achievement of

1/

biodiversity-related goals. Such a system might be modeled on the well-established GTOS and GOOS programmes, and the concept should be explored further.

39. Assessment is necessary of the *datasets currently available*, either through compilation of national-level data or through remote sensing, and of the processes for maintaining these data, in order to determine their potential value in addressing monitoring and assessment of achievement of the 2010 target, and their ability to contribute indicators.

D. Indicators and indicator frameworks

- 40. While a *single biodiversity index* would be a powerful communications tool, it was felt that the current state of knowledge on the rates of biodiversity loss does not build the necessary confidence in the development and use of such a measure. However, a small set of indicators covering multiple targets, both biodiversity and development, would be both possible and preferable to the current situation where there is overlap in the use and application of unrelated sets of indicators.
- 41. There is clear value in the development of *aggregated indices* that are easily grasped by the general public and policy makers. Aggregated indices provide a useful communication tool that might otherwise be lost if reliance were placed on a larger number of indicators. However, it is vital that aggregated indices do not lead to misinformation, and they therefore should be based on scientifically rigorous indicators, and also amenable to disaggregation and the verification of individual components. Specific attention is needed to test and review the application of existing aggregate indices, such as the Natural Capital Index, Biodiversity Intactness Index, Living Planet Index and Pressure Index.
- 42. For purposes of effective communication at all levels, it was recommended that a set of approximately *ten key indicators* be identified or developed. Priority should be given to regional and global indicators, and in order to ensure confidence in the indicators it would be necessary to ensure they were clearly based on identifiable and quality controlled datasets. The primary target audience for these indicators was identified as the key decision-makers and politicians who agreed to the 2010 target at WSSD, therefore they must be useful for policy formulation.
- 43. While the primary *focus* is clearly on the rates of biodiversity loss (noting the definitions in paragraph 22 and the need to be representative of the three levels of biodiversity, including ecosystem function), indicators and associated reporting also need to address two other related issues:
- a) Activities undertaken to address biodiversity loss (and in particular those in response to specific targets such as the 2010 target);
 - b) Measurements of the underlying causes of biodiversity loss.
- 44. Criteria that should be employed for the identification and *selection of appropriate indicators* have already been discussed in the context of the CBD. The indicators liaison group is currently developing guidance for national-level indicators and monitoring for consideration at SBSTTA 9, building on previous discussions, and recognising and building on the considerable work that has already been done and implemented nationally. In summary, indicators need to be:
 - a) SMART specific, measurable, achievable, realistic and time-related;
 - b) Relevant and meaningful to diverse stakeholders;
 - c) Developed through a consultative process to ensure wide ownership;
 - d) Tested for their utility at different scales;
 - e) Formulated to take account of different timescales;
 - f) Cost effective and affordable;
 - g) Timely, both in terms of currency and sensitivity to change over appropriate timescales;

- h) Related to country-specific objectives including for poverty reduction and meeting the MDGs;
- i) Integrated, constituting a set (or nested series) of increasingly aggregated indicators.
- 45. Biodiversity indicators in current use are often a function of the *available data* rather than the result of generation of new data to support the development of additional indicators. As a result the indicators in use are not necessarily designed to measure progress towards meeting the 2010 biodiversity target or the MDG targets, both of which were set after the indicators had already been developed and adopted for use in a variety of situations. This needs to be considered when reviewing potential indicators to determine rates of loss and assessment of progress towards 2010.
- 46. On the other hand, *policy makers need information now*, and it is necessary to start immediately with currently available data and feasible indicators, while at the same time identifying and addressing gaps in assessment, monitoring, indicators and knowledge, and the associated needs for capacity building and funding. Indicators should be identified using a pragmatic approach employing existing data, initiatives and programmes. It is recommended that the CBD commission a study on available datasets and the ways in which they can be used in developing the required indicators. The study should identify the gaps in types of datasets and detail of the dataset to build improved designs for the future.
- 47. There may be a need for countries to *re-assess previous work* on biodiversity and development indicators in the light of discussion at this meeting. This may be linked to review of CBD national biodiversity strategies and action plans, and of associated target setting at national level.
- 48. However, it was noted that *indicators alone will not achieve the 2010 target*.—This requires well coordinated actions at various levels with a specific focus on achieving the 2010 target. Communication efforts to publicize the 2010 target must convey the need for these actions to go beyond the provision of indicators, which do not solve the problems that they are established to measure.

E. Reporting

- 49. There is already a large number of national reporting obligations, so it is essential that any new reporting approach adds value and builds on what is being done. There are three *complementary approaches to reporting* on the 2010 target, all of which need to be taken into account:
 - a) Reports based on the *ten key indicators* described above;
- b) Understanding how *existing national reporting* approaches could contribute to the reporting process for the 2010 target (noting that this goes beyond the existing reporting obligations to CBD alone to include other conventions and reporting processes);
- c) Exploring further how existing monitoring and assessment initiatives that generate periodic reports (such as the Global Biodiversity Outlook, the Global Environment Outlook, the Millennium Assessment, reports of FAO, UNEP-WCMC amongst others) could expand the scope and level of biodiversity reporting in order to provide additional contributions to the reporting process for the 2010 target.
- 50. On the basis of the above consideration, two levels of reporting were recommended. At the *national level* the primary responsibility for reporting on progress towards the achievement of the 2010 target should be vested with the CBD National Focal Points, supported by a national committee and/or task force involving relevant government entities, civil society, academia, and relevant research organisations to ensure proper cross-sectoral involvement. It was further recommended that reporting should be:
 - a) Underpinned by a sound scientific approach to allow for comparability over time;
 - b) Aligned with the MDGs and other relevant reporting mechanisms.

- 51. The meeting stressed the need to *strengthen national reporting processes*, particularly in developing countries and countries with economies in transition, and in particular GEF should be approached to provide the necessary capacity building support.
- 52. The national reporting process and its outputs, together with the available relevant national, regional and global level assessments, datasets and indicators would then feed into the preparation of a *global report* on progress towards the 2010 target. The global report would be prepared, under commission from the CBD, by an independent body working in collaboration/partnership with a wide range of stakeholders including all international biodiversity-related conventions and programmes, national institutions and NGOs, and subjected to a peer review process through an independent scientific panel and/or a multi-stakeholder group. The roles the independent body preparing the report would include:
 - a) Aggregating national information;
- b) Collecting global datasets through, for example, remote sensing, other information centres, networks and partnerships;
 - c) Analyzing data and identifying global trends.
- 53. The *audience for the report* (or reports) should be carefully identified, and the reporting process structured to respond to the needs of this audience in order to raise awareness amongst the key stakeholders/actors and focus decision and action. With this in mind, potential users should be involved in the identification of what to report on and how. Key audiences would include the following:
- a) International institutions/processes such as: CBD, CSD, WTO, UNEP, MDGs (noting UNDP responsibility for country reporting), multilateral and bilateral donors, GEF.
 - b) National Governments;
 - c) Business, including through the World Business Council;
 - d) Civil society, in particular through broad public access (e.g. Internet).
- 54. Consideration needs to be given to how the CBD *Clearing-House Mechanism*, and the information services and processes established by other conventions and programmes, can be used more effectively to support these reporting processes. This is particularly so for those services like the CBD Clearing-House Mechanism that is implemented by Parties at the national level.
- 55. The *frequency of reporting* will depend on need and level. Monitoring and assessment programmes must be ongoing, building on the CBD national strategies and action plans and similar documents (and on the baselines used in their development where these exist). As a guideline, national-level analysis and reporting should take place every two years, perhaps linked to Convention reporting obligations. At the international level, global trend analyses and reporting should be carried out on a 4 to 5 year cycle.
- 56. In order for reporting to be effective, the reasons for and *benefits of reporting* on the progress towards the 2010 target should be well articulated to the identified audience. In addition, the communication of these reasons and benefits should endeavour to incorporate the possible range of uses of the information to be generated by the reporting process. Some examples of potential use include:
 - a) Early warning systems to detect unsustainable development trends and their economic impacts;
- b) Better national management of biodiversity and natural resources through feedback on effectiveness, improved ability to identify priorities and target resource allocation;
- c) Helping to raise public awareness about the importance of biodiversity, leading to greater understanding and participation, increased willingness to allocate appropriate resources, etc.
 - d) Providing information which facilitates access to capacity building resources.

- 57. It is also worth exploring the possibility of using *reporting compliance incentives* that help ensure more prompt (and more complete) reporting. These might include:
 - a) Publishing lists of delayed reports
 - b) Making allocation of funding support contingent on regular reporting
- c) Applying restrictions for those unable to meet their reporting obligations (for example limiting participation in meetings, or applying sanctions specific to the agreement such as trade restrictions under CITES)
- 58. In order to ensure that the *reporting process for the 2010 target* is implemented at the earliest opportunity and that decisions to initiate the implementation process are taken by the appropriate partnerships, it is recommended that the CBD commission papers on the following issues so that the CBD SBSTTA meeting to be held in November 2003 can then make appropriate recommendations for the consideration and approval of COP 7:
- a) Recommendations on the *format and content of the report*, and the suite of indicators that will contribute to the reporting process;
 - b) Recommendations on the *process* by which reports will be compiled and presented;
- c) Recommendations on suitable *agencies or institutions* who could play the role of an independent body to undertake the reporting process at the global level.
- 59. One recommendation, which merits special mention, concerns the need for all CBD Parties to share experiences in setting national targets and baselines, in implementing appropriate monitoring and assessment programmes for meeting the 2010 biodiversity target, and in setting clearly defined intermediate targets and/or milestones. With this in mind it was recommended that the *format of the third national reports* should incorporate specific questions on the broad range of activities undertaken (including national targets, status and trends) by all relevant sectors of government and civil society to achieve the 2010 target as well as the incorporation of this target and biodiversity concerns into the work of government sectoral programmes and strategies.

F. Building on existing mandates and processes

- 60. To the extent possible, any new reporting requirement should build on and *use existing processes* in order to avoid overloading national governments with yet more requirements for meeting targets and reporting, which many governments are already unable to report on adequately.
- 61. It is clear that there is insufficient time to obtain "political clearance" from all the various convention conferences of the parties if actions towards 2010 are to be effective. Whilst the approval process is desirable and perhaps necessary, the very limited timeframe in which governments and other partners are expected to demonstrate the achievement of positive progress towards the 2010 target suggests adoption of alternative but complementary approaches. It is therefore necessary to ensure that the identified activities *build on existing mandates*, while seeking renewed mandates as appropriate. Convention governance bodies will need to be aware that the mandates from WSSD and CBD COP 6 require action to start now, and cannot wait for full agreement on every action.
- 62. There are a number of *existing monitoring and assessment initiatives* that periodically report on the state of the environment or aspects of it. An analysis should be carried out to determine how these initiatives could contribute to the overall reporting process, including expanding their level of biodiversity reporting to provide additional inputs to satisfy the reporting requirements for the 2010 target. This assessment should also explore modalities for drawing on the information and related content of the existing national reporting approaches and past reports to support reporting on progress in achieving the 2010 target. This would include both reporting to international conventions and programmes, and national inputs to international monitoring networks and assessments.

- 63. For example, the role of *other international agreements* and programmes in providing indicators and related information on the status of biodiversity is particularly important to the overall reporting process. This role needs to be taken into account in the development of indicators (building on the ongoing work of the CBD Liaison Group on biodiversity indicators) and indices for communication and policy development purposes in the context of the achievement of the 2010 target. For example:
 - a) The Convention on Migratory Species has recognized the need to identify potential indicators of the status of migratory species, from which one key indicator might be identified for the "ten key indicators" suggested in Paragraph 42;
 - b) The Ramsar Convention is already reviewing effectiveness of the implementation of the Convention, and one or more indicators arising from this process may also contribute to the "ten key indicators" suggested in Paragraph 42.
- 64. Given the number and extent of coverage of the existing initiatives focusing on reporting in the context of international agreements and programmes, as well as on various monitoring and assessment aspects, it is clearly valuable to promote *harmonization and streamlining* of reporting and information management to reduce duplication and to identify synergies. This requires action at both the national and international levels.
- 65. With respect to the involvement of other key initiatives and programmes, it was recommended that the outcomes of the meeting be communicated to key thematic meetings such as the *World Parks Congress* scheduled to be held in September 2003. In this case the aim would be to highlight the importance of protected area data in the context of assessment of progress in meeting the 2010 target, the Millennium Development Goals, and other targets set by WSSD.

G. Understanding and applying multiple targets and goals, and the development of sub-targets

- 66. There is a *plethora of international environment and development goals and targets*, and often little understanding and appreciation of the relationship between them at the international level, let alone at the national level. This therefore emphasizes the need for:
- a) Improved understanding and communication of the relationship between the different internationally agreed targets
- b) Improved understanding of how to adapt international targets to national situations in a meaningful manner
- 67. It is well understood within the biodiversity community that meeting and sustaining the *Millennium Development Goals* will depend to a large extent on meeting the three objectives of the CBD as reflected in the CBD Strategic Plan and the 2010 biodiversity target. However there is still a real need to communicate this message more effectively, and to mainstream biodiversity into other sectors. This includes the need to:
- a) *Communicate* the relevance of the biodiversity target to those implementing the other international targets, such as the Millennium Development Goals;
- b) *Incorporate the 2010 biodiversity target* into the MDGs and other international goals and targets, including trade and other social and economic targets;
- c) *Integrate actions* in support of biodiversity targets into other strategies and sector policies, at both the national and international level, and within the government and private sectors.
- 68. There is a clearly identified need to articulate the *interdependence between biodiversity and the Millennium Development Goals* at all levels, between sectors, and in both developed and developing countries. This should include defining biodiversity targets for ecosystem services relevant to each MDG that can be built upon at the national level. A process is then needed in every country to articulate the role of biodiversity in achieving the MDGs, recognising that issues and priorities will vary from country to

country. It is also essential to ensure that those responsible for assessing progress in achieving each of the Millennium Development Goals are also aware of the important role that biodiversity plays.

- 69. The *livelihoods/health/vulnerability/food security classification* being used in other form was identified as a valuable way of understanding and communicating the linkages between key issues that concern people and governments, and this should be investigated further in communicating the importance of biodiversity to all sectors of society (see attached Table 1- Matrix relating biodiversity to human security and development issues). The links to existing assessment processes such as the Global Biodiversity Outlook, the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment and the Global Environment Outlook could usefully be explored further, along with discussion on how to develop and use this matrix.
- 70. There should be a clearer process for *adapting international targets to national situations*, and possibly also for understanding how setting and achieving national targets contributes to achievement of international targets. Countries might need additional guidance in how to do this, particularly as some of the work could be done internationally and then used to support national action. The process might include:
 - a) Identifying all the targets that a country has committed to;
 - b) Clarifying whether they are all clear and achievable targets;
- c) Identifying how the biodiversity and development targets relate to each other (recognizing that this might vary between countries);
 - d) Developing national targets that are a function of the available information in the country;
 - e) Identifying institutional responsibility for each target.
- 71. The *CBD programmes of work* provide a framework for implementation of the Convention at national and local levels, including understanding and assessing biodiversity loss at the biome scale as a basis for co-ordinated global action. It is recommended that the process used in the development of the targets for Global Plant Conservation Strategy should guide the review of the existing thematic programmes of the CBD to develop specific sub-targets, milestones and timelines in support of achieving the 2010 target.
- 72. The review/revision of the existing CBD *national biodiversity strategies and action plans* should incorporate the identified recommendations on the 2010 target and related actions to achieve the Millennium Development Goals, as well as any national targets and sub-targets that may have been set by the relevant sectors of government. The review process may require additional finance to ensure that it is done in a participatory cross-sectoral manner.
- 73. Implementation of the *ecosystem approach* can be used as a basis for addressing policy issues in implementing international targets at national and regional levels, but the means for doing this will need to be considered in the context of the review of NBSAP implementation within each country, and the development of specific targets within CBD programmes of work. Further advice may be required on homenstation to accomplish these tasks.
- 74. It was recommended that the *identification and adoption of additional targets* and sub-targets by other MEAs and international initiatives should be carried out in a coordinated manner to ensure a coherent approach in support of the 2010 target. The process used in the development of targets for the CBD Global Strategy for Plant Conservation could also be applied to the identification of targets for other taxonomic groups.
- 75. Finally, it was also noted that *voluntary independent biodiversity reviews* carried out under the auspices of the CBD could be an important means to assist parties in implementing the international biodiversity and development targets. Such independent reviews are already carried out in the context of the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change.

H. Cross-sectoral collaboration

- 76. The issue of strengthening cross-sectoral linkages between government agencies is central to the achievement of the 2010 target, and of particular concern is the question of how to get biodiversity expertise into other sectors. An effective process needs to be created for promoting *ownership of the 2010 target amongst sectors*, and identifying how they can support implementation and assessment of the achievement of the target.
- 77. It was recognized that identifying and *quantifying ecosystem services* was one obvious way to understand and communicate the linkages between biodiversity and other sectors.
- 78. Most countries have some form of co-ordinating mechanism between sectors, and strengthening this co-ordination is crucial to achieving the international targets. This will be supported by ensuring that the *results of both London meetings* are effectively disseminated to all CBD National Focal Points and others in such a manner that they can be used to enhance cross-sectoral linkages through dialogue and planning. It is recommended that these focal points be encouraged to discuss these reports and their implications with all other government departments and other stakeholders.
- 79. Several examples are available of *institutional arrangements* that address biodiversity in development processes. It may be of value to share experience on how this is done, and therefore to compile case studies on the institutional linkages between biodiversity and development.
- 80. It is desirable for bilateral and multilateral *development assistance programmes* to recognize and adopt the 2010 target and take the necessary actions to communicate this message to the relevant donor agencies and to ensure that this recognition is achieved in the appropriate fora. This could be linked to promoting recognition that Goal 7 of the Millennium Development Goals (*ensuring environmental sustainability*) is essentially a guiding principle for achieving the other Millennium Development Goals.

I. Capacity building and technical support

- 81. It should be noted that the targets will not be achieved unless the necessary capacity to achieve them exists wherever required. Therefore as part of the commitment to achieving the 2010 target *countries need assistance* to develop the required strategies, including a focus on ecosystem services, assessment of progress in achieving the target, and communication of biodiversity values to all sectors. The latter includes demonstrating the benefits of monitoring, assessment and reporting.
- 82. In particular, the development and strengthening of monitoring, assessment and reporting capacities at the national level, especially in developing countries and countries with economies in transition, will inevitably require financial and technical support. It is recommended that the CBD request the *Global Environment Facility* to provide the required capacity building support. The monitoring, assessment and reporting process should be viewed as a capacity building exercise.
- 83. Technical cooperation and capacity building to achieve and monitor progress towards the 2010 target must be *integrated at the international level*, including efforts at harmonization and streamlining building on the work currently being led by UNEP and the UNEP World Conservation Monitoring Centre.

J. Funding

84. With regard to the issue of resources, the meeting recommended a significant increase in the size, efficiency and effectiveness of funding available for activities aimed at meeting the 2010 target. This could be done through the adoption of innovative approaches including making more effective use of existing funds in the environmental and other budget allocations, such as sector and poverty reduction strategies; development of partnerships with private sector and non-governmental sources; ensuring that

spending in other areas either supports biodiversity targets or is neutral; increasing funding directed specifically to biodiversity targets through a range of mechanisms such as GEF, ODA, International Finance Institutions (IFI), and regional and bilateral arrangements; and getting the economic equations right by decreasing negative (perverse) incentives. The establishment of national level targets in the context of the 2010 target and reporting on progress in meeting this target should be an incentive for funding and investment. The meeting also called for the creation of conditions that encourage the use of market forces to help meet the biodiversity targets.

K. Partnerships

- 85. Achievement of the 2010 target, and assessing progress towards 2010, will require *improved coordination*, *synergy and partnership*. It is clear there are still many coordination problems that need to be resolved, between national and international levels in many countries. Addressing the challenges posed by such problems will require:
 - a) Gathering and promoting practical examples of good practice at national and international levels.
- b) Promoting mainstreaming between programmes and departments with different responsibilities, but responding to the same targets.
- c) Promoting the use of partnerships among relevant environmental or developmental agencies, and specifically building on the experience of WSSD type II partnerships.
- 86. The development and implementation of the *global partnership for biodiversity* proposed by the CBD open-ended inter-sessional meeting on the multi-year programme of work (March 2003) should also provide a valuable forum for improving coordination, and a focus on building coordination and synergy in achieving the 2010 target would provide a valuable initial mandate.

SUMMARY OF KEY POINTS

- 87. Discussion was inevitably wide-ranging, and a significant number of valuable recommendations and suggestions were made. A number of the key messages include *inter alia* the following, covered in more detail in earlier paragraphs. Recommendations targeted on specific organizations, and in particular on the CBD process, are listed later.
- 88. Improved *communication* of biodiversity and its role was seen as being fundamental in both achieving the 2010 target, and in convincing many of the players of the importance of monitoring and reporting programmes. This includes the need to more effectively relate biodiversity to other sectors and concerns, for example the Millennium Development Goals.
- 89. Development of a few achievable and reliable *indicators* is essential for communicating concerns and achievements, and for supporting policy intervention, although it was recognized that this would need to be underpinned by substantial data and allow for input from a wide range of sources and sectors.
- 90. The importance of recognising the *breadth of existing targets*, and finding some way of relating these targets more effectively to help focus both action and reporting at all levels was emphasized. This would include recognition of the essential importance of biodiversity in achieving the Millennium Development Goals, and potentially include identification of existing datasets and derivation of reports or indicators to support reporting on more than one target.
- 91. The essential importance of *cross-sectoral understanding* was recognized, and the need to find better ways of communicating the fundamental importance of biodiversity. One option discussed was the need to develop indicators in areas such as ecosystem services and biodiversity of importance for the poor (eg. for food and health) as well as the more generally accepted biodiversity-related indicators.

- 92. The 2010 target is relevant to all biodiversity-related MEAs, and needs to be incorporated into their respective activities (including reporting) in a coordinated manner, building on existing strategies and plans. Actions to reduce biodiversity loss and report on achievements need to be *CBD-led*, but not CBD-centred, recognising the vital role of many other stakeholders.
- 93. A wide range of *existing assessment and monitoring programmes* are already under way which can be oriented to deliver information relevant to assessment of progress in achieving the target. The secretariats and governance bodies of these processes should be invited to identify the ways in which they could address the 2010 target. A report is needed to identify how all these initiatives can contribute to assessment of progress in achieving the target.
- 94. Within the CBD it is important to *incorporate targets* into the existing work programmes, and to promote the incorporation of appropriate targets into the national strategies and action plans. There were similar calls on other conventions to adopt a similar approach with regard to their respective programmes in the context of contributing to the achievement of the 2010 target and the other targets arising from WSSD.
- 95. There were calls for a comprehensive *review of existing datasets, monitoring, assessment* and related information management approaches and initiatives, to provide a basis for more informed decisions on indicators and reporting.
- 96. With regard to *finance and capacity*, the meeting recommended increased financial and technical support for activities aimed at meeting the 2010 target. The meeting further proposed a number of innovative approaches through which this support could be generated and applied more effectively and efficiently. It was also recognized that getting the message across appropriately was a necessary step in achieving the provision of the required financial and technical support.
- 97. In the *longer term*, it was recognized that 2010 should not be seen as the end of the process, but a key focus for action and reporting with the expectation that the outcomes and achievements of these activities up to 2010 would be used as significant inputs in the setting of future related targets.

NEXT STEPS

A. Immediate follow-up

- 98. It was agreed that once the report had been drafted and reviewed by the CBD Secretariat, UNEP-WCMC and UNDP, it would be made available for review by all of those who participated in the meeting. Once their input had been received and incorporated, it would be widely circulated.
- 99. Meanwhile an action plan would be developed based on the report of the meeting, and the CBD Secretariat, UNEP-WCMC and UNDP would jointly agree on how to maintain progress on the issues discussed through regular meetings and teleconferences. This would include identification of mechanisms to ensure broad ownership of the target and the mechanisms to assess progress in achieving it.

B. Recommendations specific to the CBD Secretariat

- 100. The meeting made the following recommendations that are specific to follow up by the Convention on Biological Diversity, as the "key instrument" for conservation and sustainable use of biodiversity. These need to be addressed by the Secretariat, SBSTTA and the COP.
- 101. Submission of the report of the London meeting as an information paper to CBD SBSTTA9, with action to be taken identified in a SBSTTA pre-session document.

- 102. Preparation of other supporting information papers for SBSTTA9 on, *inter alia*, recommended indicators, use of existing datasets and assessment processes, use of other reporting processes, communication strategy, funding issues, institutional arrangements and coordination, etc.
- 103. Draft recommendations for SBSTTA 9 on other follow-up action concerning integration of targets cross-sectorally, indicator development and their use, development of the sub-targets, reporting framework, communications strategy, etc.
- 104. Identification of ways to integrate the deliberation of the London meeting into the work of the CBD liaison group on indicators and discussion of that work at SBSTTA9.
- 105. Communication of the report with appropriate guidance to CBD National Focal Points and relevant agencies and organizations following the SBSTTA meeting.
- 106. Provision of advice and guidance to Parties on follow-up activities at the national level, including integration of the target and identified subsidiary targets into NBSAPs and other sectoral programmes, reporting, communication, indicator development, collaboration and coordination.
- 107. Draft recommendation for consideration and approval of COP 7 including approval of a framework for reporting, and request to the GEF to fund capacity building to establish national assessment and reporting framework.
- 108. Interim progress report on 2010 Target implementation and review of reporting framework at COP7 and COP8.

C. Recommendations specific to national governments

- 109. Many of the recommendations in this report are relevant to national governments, but particular attention is drawn to the following:
- a) The need to set targets at the national level that respond to the internationally adopted targets in the context of national requirements;
- b) The need to have in place monitoring, assessment and reporting processes that assist governments in reviewing progress in achieving these targets, and responding accordingly;
- c) The need for cross-sectoral and multi-stakeholder approaches for achieving and reporting on the achievement of the targets set;
- d) The need for effective communication of biodiversity issues to all sectors and stakeholders to ensure an understanding of the importance of biodiversity;
- e) The need to make existing biodiversity data more readily available using appropriate means including the internet;
 - f) The need for capacity development to achieve the above.
- 110. National governments also need to consider their role in influencing international processes, and the ways in which MEAs, international organizations and international programmes respond to the 2010 target and reporting on its achievement.

D. Recommendations specific to other organizations and initiatives

111. Secretariats, advisory and governance bodies of *other MEAs* should consider reviewing the implications of the 2010 target for their own activities, and identifying ways in which they can respond to the target and report on the action that they are taking and its effects.

- 112. The secretariats and advisory bodies for *international assessments* should consider ways in which the results of their work can support assessment of the extent to which the 2010 target is being achieved, and at the same time identify ways to ensure that the role of biodiversity is adequately reflected and reported on in their work.
- 113. The secretariats, advisory and governance bodies of other *international programmes* should consider reviewing the implications of the 2010 target for their own activities, and identifying ways in which they can respond to the target and report on the action that they are taking and its effects.
- 114. *International organizations* should review their information holdings and programmes, and consider how their resources and activities can support both achievement of the 2010 target and reporting on the extent to which it is being achieved.
- 115. International research and information sharing networks should consider identifying how their resources and activities can support assessment of the extent to which the 2010 target it is being achieved, and where appropriate also support activities that support achievement of the target.
- 116. Development assistance programmes should consider ways in which support can be given to the development of capacity for assessment and reporting, integrated with support for other actions to work towards achievement of the 2010 target.

Table 1: Matrix relating biodiversity to human security and development issues

·	Species (including genetic level)	Ecosystem Functions	Ethics/intrinsic Factors
Link to Millennium Ecosystem Assessment service categories	Provisioning	Regulating and Supporting	Cultural
Livelihoods (e.g. MDG 1: Poverty)	 Food, fiber, medicinals Biochemicals Bioremediation Genetic resources Ecotourism—charismatic fauna Income generating opportunities 	 Primary production Fresh water Water regulation for energy production Payment for ecosystem services Ecotourism—biome 	 Ecotourism—vista/nature Future opportunities Beauty/aesthetics Recreation Educational Equity Inter-generational equity
Food security (e.g. MDG 1: Hunger)	 Agrobiodiversity (for increased food production) Wild relatives IPM Pollinators New products Protein sources 	 Food production – water supply issues Pollination Soil productivity 	 Diversity of foodways Market access/equity
Health (e.g. MDGs 4-6)	Medicinals/ pharmaceuticals, including traditional uses Nutrition	 Clean water Disease – control of vectors Detoxification/nutrient cycling 	Mental healthSpiritual and religious valuesInspirational
Vulnerability (of humans and the environment) to disasters, resource security/loss, etc)	 Tipping point of genetically reduced populations Mobility problems due to climate change shifts 	 Robust response to natural and human-caused disasters Climate-regulation Water capture Emerging diseases due to ecosystem disruption Flood/drought/erosion control Primary production Adaptability 	 Cultural identity There are more than humans Aesthetic Communal Symbolic Gaia concept of 'whole organism' i.e. cannot separate human security from planetary security

Target audiences:

International: Integration and collaboration within the international system
National: Achievement at the national level;
Civil Society: Support and mainstreaming at the private sector and civil society level

Annex I

LIST OF PARTICIPANTS

Governments Parties

Antigua and Barbuda

Ms. Diann Black Layne
 Chief Environmental Officer
 Environment Division
 Ministry of Tourism and Environment
 Government Office Complex, Building #2
 Queen Elizabeth Highway
 St. John's
 Antiqua and Barbuda

Tel.: +268 462 9625460 6398 Fax: +268 462 2836/460 6093

E-Mail: environment@antiguabarbuda.net,

Australia

Mr. Max Kitchell
 Head of Delegation
 Natural Heritage Division
 Department of the Environment and Heritage
 GPO Box 787
 Canberra ACT 2601
 Australia

Tel.: +61 2 6274 2345
Fax: +61 2 6274 2505

E-Mail: max.kitchell@ea.gov.au

Web: http://environment.gov.au

Austria

 Ms. Tanja Röhrich Federal Environment Agency Spittelauer Lände 5 Vienna A-1090 Austria

> Tel.: +43 1 31304 3460 Fax: +43 1 31304 3700 E-Mail: roehrich@ubavie.gv.at Web: http://www.ubavie.gv.at

Belgium

Ms. Ines Verleye
 Collaborator of Environment Minister
 Cabinet of the Federal Minister of Environment
 Kunstlaan 7
 Brussels B-1000
 Belgium

Tel.: +32 2 220 20 82 Fax: +32 2 220 20 67

E-Mail: ines.verleye@minsoc.fed.be

Brazil

 Ms. Mitzi Gurgel Valente da Costa Head of the Environment Division Ministry of Foreign Relations Esplanada Dos Ministerios, Boloco H, Sala 439 Brasilia 7000 DF Brazil

> Tel.: 55 61 411 6674 Fax: 55 61 322 5523 E-Mail: mvalente@mre.gov.br

Burkina Faso

6. Mr. Soumayila Bancé

Point Focal National de la Convention sur la Diversité Biologique Ministère de l'Environnement et du Cadre de Vie 01 B.P. 6486

Ouagadougou 01 Burkina Faso Tel.: 226 312 464 / 313 166

Fax: 226 316 491 / 35 61 10

E-Mail: bancebo@fasonet.bf, bancebo@voila.fr

Canada

7. Mr. David Brackett
Canadian Wildlife Service
Environment Canada
Place Vincent Massey, 3rd Floor
351, St. Joseph Boulevard
Hull QC K1A 0H3
Canada

Tel.: +1 819 997 1301 Fax: +1 819 953 7177 E-Mail: david.brackett@ec.gc.ca

Chile

Mr. Mauricio Hurtado
 Ministry of Foreign Affairs
 Catedral No. 1143 - 2 Piso
 Santiago
 Chile

Tel.: +562 679 4384 Fax: +562 673 2152 E-Mail: dima10@minrel.cl

Colombia

 Mr. Fernando Casas Senior Adviser Instituto Alexander Von Humboldt Calle 37 No.8-40 Mezanine Bogota DC Colombia

> Tel.: +571 340 6925 Fax: +571 216 6286

E-Mail: fcasas@humboldt.org.co Web: http://www.humboldt.org.co

Colombia

Ms. Jimena Nieto Carrasco
 Head
 International Negotiations Office
 Ministerio de Ambiente
 Calle 37 #8-40 Piso 2
 Bogota
 Colombia

Tel.: +571 288 9860 Fax: +571 288 6954

E-Mail: jnieto@minambiente.gov.co

Czech Republic

Dr. Jan Plesnik
 Deputy Director
 Agency for Nature Conservation and Landscape Protection
 Kalisnicka 4-6
 CZ-13023 Prague 3
 Czech Republic

Tel.: +420 2 2258 0562 Fax: +420 2 2258 0012

E-Mail: plesnik@nature.cz, janplesnik@hotmail.com

Democratic Republic of the Congo

Prof. Bakach D. Kadiata
 Université de Kinshasa
 Faculté des Sciences Agronomiques
 B.P. 238
 Kinshasa X1
 Democratic Republic of the Congo

E-Mail: bakach-kadiata@yahoo.com

Denmark

 Mr. Christian Prip Special Consultant Danish Forest and Nature Agency Ministry of Environment Haraldsgade 53 Copenhagen DK-2100 Denmark

> Tel.: +45 394 723 56 Fax: +45 394 723 60 E-Mail: chp@sns.dk

Egypt

14. Dr. Moustafa Fouda

Director of the Nature Conservation Sector Ministry of State for Environmental Affairs, Egyptian Environmental Affairs Agency, Nature Conservation Sector 30 Misr Helwan Road El Zyrae Rd, Maadi, 7th floor

Cairo Egypt

Tel.: +202 524 8792 Fax: +202 527 1391

E-Mail: foudamos@starnet.com.eg, foudamos@link.net /

European Community

15. Mr. Stefan Leiner DG ENV/E3

Directorate General - Environment

Rue de la Loi 200

Bruxelles B-1049 Belgium

> Tel.: +32 2 299 95 068 Fax: +32 2 299 69557 E-Mail: stefan.leiner@cec.eu.int

Finland

 Mr. Matti Nummelin Ministry for Foreign Affairs P.O. Box 176 00161 - Helsinki

Finland

Tel.: +358 1605 6108 Fax: +358 1605 6470 E-Mail: matti.nummelin@formin.fi

17. Mrs. Marina von Weissenberg

Senior Adviser

Ministry of the Environment

P.O. Box 35, FIN-00023 Government, Kasarminkatu 25

Finland

Tel.: +358 9 160 39372 Fax: +358 9 160 39364 Fax: +358 9 160 39364

E-Mail: marina.weissenberg@ymparisto.fi

France

Mr. Jean-Pierre Le Danff
Desk Officer
Ministère des Affaires Etrangères
37 Quai d'Orsay

Paris 07 SP 75700

France

Tel.: 33 01 43 17 44 84 Fax: 33 01 43 17 57 65

E-Mail: jean-pierre.le-danff@diplomatie.gouv.fr

Germany

19. Ms. Alexandra Mueller

Deutsche Gesellschaft fur Technische Zusammenarbeit (GTZ)

Dag Hammarskjold Weg 1-5

Postfach 5180 Eschborn 65726 Germany

Tel.: +49 6196 794202

Germany

Mr. Dirk Schwenzfeier
 Head of Delegation
 Federal Ministry for the Environment
 Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety
 Robert-Schuman-Platz
 Bonn 53175
 Germany

Tel.: +49 228 305 2611 Fax: +49 228 305 2695

E-Mail: Dirk.Schwenzfeier@bmu.bund.de

Ghana

Prof. Alfred A. Oteng Yeboah
 Deputy Director-General
 Council for Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR)
 P.O. Box M 32
 Accra
 Ghana

Tel.: +233 21 77 43 80/ (cell) +233 24 772256

Fax: +233 21 77 98 09 / 77 7655

E-Mail: aaoyeboah@ucomgh.com, otengyeboah@yahoo.co.uk

India

Mr. Desh Deepak Verma
 Joint Secretary
 Ministry of Environment and Forests
 Paryavaran Bhawan, C.G.O. Complex, Lodi Road
 New Delhi 110 003

Tel.: +91 11 436 1613 Fax: +91 11 436 1613 E-Mail: ddverma@nic.in

Indonesia

23. Dr. Setijati Sastrapradja Scientist Naturae Indonesiana (NATURINDO) Taman Widya Chandra 2 Jakarta Pusat Indonesia Tel.: + 62 251 325 236

Fax: +62 21 520 20 39
E-Mail: dinkopib@indo.net.id

Iran (Islamic Republic of)

24. Mr. Asghar Mohammadi Fazel
Director General for Natural History Museums
Department of Environment
9 Gha'em Magham Ave.
Tehran 15899
Iran (Islamic Republic of)
Tal: 9821 88 24 513

Tel.: 9821 88 24 513
Fax: 9821 883 1297
E-Mail: amfazel@yahoo.com
Web: http://www.biodiversity.ir

25. Mr. Mehran Niazi
Department of Environment
9 Gha'em Magham Ave.
Tehran 15899

Iran (Islamic Republic of) Tel.: +9821 828 1270 Fax: +9821 826 9912

E-Mail: mniazi@mail.com, mehranniazi@yahoo.com

Web: http://www.biodiversity.ir

Ireland

26. Dr. Phillip Buckley

Ecologist

Department of the Environment and Local Government

7 Ely Place Dublin 2 Ireland

> Tel.: +353 1 647 2345 Fax: +353 1 678 8118 E-Mail: pbuckley@duchas.ie

Jamaica

27. Dr. Elaine Fisher

Consultant

Oxford Medical Centre 22H Old Hope Road

Kingston 5 Jamaica

> Tel.: +876 970 4166 Fax: +876 702 2932

E-Mail: efishjam@infochan.com

Kenya

28. Ms. Consolata W. Kiragu

Deputy Permanent Representative Ministry of Foreign Affairs

P.O. Box 41395

Nairobi Kenya

Tel.: +254 2 243088 Fax: +254 2 248851 E-Mail: mec@nbnet.co.ke

29. Mr. Simon K. Mbarire

Deputy Director

National Environment Secretariat

Box 67839 Nairobi Kenya

> Tel.: +254 2 248 852 Fax: +254 2 248 851 E-Mail: director@nes.co.ke

Kenya

30. Mr. Parkinson M. Ndonye

Technical Expert

National Environment Management Authority

P.O. Box 67839

Nairobi Kenya

Tel.: +254 2 609013

E-Mail: kmunep@swinkenya.com

Mexico

31. Mr. Alberto Glender Rivas

Secretario Tecnico

Grupo de Paises Megadiversos Afines

Ministry of the Environment and Natural Resources (SEMARNAT)

Av.San Geronimo 456, 3e piso, Jardions del Pedregal

Mexico D.F. CP 01900

Mexico

Tel.: +5255 54902118 Fax: +5255 54902194

E-Mail: aglender@semarnat.gob.mx Web: http://www.semarnat.gob.mx

32. Dr. Jorge Soberon

CONABIO

National Commission for the Knowledge and Use of Biodiversity

Insurgentes-Levifénco #4903

Tlalpan 14010 D.F.

Mexico

Tel.: +52 55 28 91 02

Fax: +52 55 28 91 31

E-Mail: jsoberon@xolo.conabio.gob.mx,

Mongolia

Mr. Baysgalan Banzragch
 Ministry of Nature and Environment
 Government Building No. 3
 Baga toiruu - 44
 Ulaanbaatar 11
 Mongolia

Tel.: +976 11 312 269 Fax: +976 11 321 401 E-Mail: oyandar@mongol.net

Myanmar

34. Dr. Than Htoo

Ministry of Foreign Affairs (MOFA) Complex National Commission for Environmental Affairs (NCEA) 37 Thantaman Street, Dagon Township Dagon Township Yangon Myanmar

Tel.: +95 1 212 268/212 264/221-106/221-594

Fax: +95 1 221 546

E-Mail: env.myan@mptmail.net.mm

Norway

35. Mr. Peter Johan Schei International Negotiations Director Directorate for Nature Management Tungasletta 2 N-7485 Trondheim

Norway

Tel.: +47 73 580 500 / 73 580 641/ 73 526361

Fax: +47 73 580 501
E-Mail: peter-johan.schei@dirnat.no
Web: http://www.naturforvaltning.no

Poland

36. Dr. Jerzy Puchalski
Director
Nature Protection
Ministry of the Environment
52/54 Wawelska
Warsaw 00-922
Poland

Tel.: +48 22 754 -2610 Fax: +48 22 757-6645 E-Mail: obpan@ikp.atm.com.pl

Russian Federation

37. Mr. Arkady A. Tishkov

Information Analytical Centre of the GEF Project on Biodiversity

Conservation

Ministry of Nature Resources Kerdova St. 8 \1 ap. 2 - 5 Moscow GSP 117312 Russian Federation

Tel.: +7095 125 2870 Fax: +7095 125 5773

E-Mail: tishkov@rcmc.ru, tishkov@biodat.ru

Singapore

38. Dr. Lena Chan
Assistant Director (Biodiversity Centre)
National Parks Board
Singapore Botanic Gardens
National Parks Board
1 Chuny Road

National Parks Boa 1 Chuny Road Singapore 259569 Singapore

Tel.: +65 6471 9931 / 6471 9944

Fax: +65 6467 1912

E-Mail: lena_chan@nparks.gov.sg, nbrc_nparks@pacific.net.sg

Spain

Mr. Carlos Martin-Novella

Senior Advisor

Directorate General on Nature Conservation

Ministerio de Medio Ambiente

c/o 28 av. Fond du Diable

La Hulpe 1310 Belgium

> Tel.: 32 2 656 1519 Fax: 32 2 656 1519

E-Mail: carlos.martin-novella@skynet.be

Sri Lanka

40. Mr. Rasnekarlalage Sujith Sumeda Ratnavake Ministry of Environment and Natural Resources

Parisara Piyasa

Robert Gunawardena Mawatha

Battaramulla Sri Lanka

Tel.: +94 1 887 454

Fax: +94 1 877 292/ 94 37 334 88

E-Mail: champikakariyawasam@yahoo.com

Sudan

41. Dr. Mutasim Bashir Nimir

Ministry of Environment & Physical Development

P.O. Box 10488

Khartoum

Sudan

Tel.: +249 11 784276 / 781479 / 777160

Fax: +249 11 787617

E-Mail: HCENR@sudanmail.net, nadirawad@yahoo.com

Switzerland

42. Mr. Robert Lamb

Senior Policy Advisor

International Affairs Division - Convention Section

Office fédéral de l'environnement, des forêts et du paysage

Papiemuhlestr. 172 CH-3003 Berne Switzerland

Tel: +41 31 324 4989

Fax: +41 31 323 0349

E-Mail: robert.lamb@buwal.admin.ch

The Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia

43. Mr. Konstantin Siderovski

Director

Agency for Environment

Ministry of Environment and Physical Planning

Str Dresdenska 52

1000 Skopje

The Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia

Tel.: +389 2 366 930 ext 126

Fax: +389 2 366 931

E-Mail: k.siderovski@moepp.gov.mk,

konstantin_siderovski@yahoo.com

Web: http://www.moepp.gov.mk

The Netherlands

44. Mr. Hans Hoogeveen

Director of International Affairs

Ministry of Agriculture, Nature Management and Fisheries

P.O. Box 20401 The Hague 2500-EK

The Netherlands

Tel.: +31 70 378 4211 Fax: +31 70 378 6106 E-Mail: j.p.hoogeveen@iz.agro.nl

The Netherlands

45. Mr. Ben Ten Brink Co-ordinator Biodiversity National Institute of Public Health and Environmental Protection Antonie van Leeuwenhoeklaan 9, PO Box 1 Bilthoven BA The Netherlands Tel.: +3130 2742 210

Tel.: +3130 2742 210 Fax: +3130 2744419

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

46. Mr. Steve Lee-Bapty

Head

Zoos & International Species Conservation
Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs
1/16 Temple Quay House
Temple Quay
Bristol BS1 6ED

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Tel.: +44 117 372 8295 Fax: +44 117 372 8317

E-Mail: steve.lee-bapty@defra.gsi.gov.uk

47. Ms. Glenys Parry CBD Coordinator

Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs

4/C1, Ashdown House 123 Victoria Street London SW1E 6DE

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Tel.: +44 20 7944 6201 Fax: +44 20 7944 6239

E-Mail: glenys.parry@defra.gsi.gov.uk

48. Dr. Andrew Stott

Scientific Adviser

Department of the Environment, Transport and the Regions Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs Bristol BS2 9DJ

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Tel.: +44 0 117 372 8445 Fax: +44 0 117 372 8182

E-Mail: andrew_stott@defra.gsi.gov.uk

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

49. Dr. Malcolm Vincent Projects Director Joint Nature Conservation Committee Monkstone House, City Road Peterborough PE1 1JY United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

> Tel.: +44 1733 866 885 Fax: +44 1733 555 948

E-Mail: malcom.vincent@jncc.gov.uk
Web: http://www.jncc.gov.uk

United Republic of Tanzania

Mr. Rawson Piniel Yonazi
 Assistant Director
 Division of Environment
 Vice President's Office
 IPS Building, 1st Floor, Samora Avenue/Azikiwe Street

P.O. Box 5380 Dar es Salaam

United Republic of Tanzania

Tel.: +255 22 211 3983 / 211 8416 Fax: +255 22 211 / 3082 / 3856/2125297

E-Mail: yonazirp@hotmail.com, sotchair@africaonline.co.tz

United States of America

51. Dr. Leonard Hirsch Senior Policy Advisor Smithsonian Institution 1100 Jefferson Drive SW, #3123 Washington DC DC 20560-180 United States of America

> Tel.: +1 202 357 4788 Fax: +1 202 786 2557 E-Mail: lhirsch@si.edu Web: http://www.si.edu

52. Dr. John Parrotta

U.S. Department of Agriculture 1400 Independence Ave. S.W., 1627-S Washington DC 20250 United States of America

Tel.: +43-1-877-01-51-0 Fax: +43-1-877-01-51-50

E-Mail: iufro@forvie.ac.at, jparrotta@fs.fed.us

53. Dr. Cristián Samper

Director

The Smithsonian National Museum of Natural History Smithsonian Institution
10th Street and Constitution Ave., N.W.
Washington D.C. 20560

United States of America Tel.: (202) 357-2664 Fax: (202) 357-4779

E-Mail: samper.cristian@nmnh.si.edu

Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora (CITES)

54. Dr. Jim Armstrong

Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild

Fauna and Flora (CITES) 15, chemin des Anémones Geneva CH-1219 Switzerland

Tel.: +41 22 917 8127 Fax: +41 22 917 8061 E-Mail: jim.armstrong@unep.ch

Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations

55. Mr. Robert Scholes

Chair

Global Terrestrail Observing System

Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations

Viale delle Terme di Caracalla

Rome 00100

Italy

Tel.: +39 06 5705 2565 Fax: +39 06 5705 3369 E-Mail: bscholes@csir.co.za

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO)

56. Dr. Peter Holmgren

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO)

Viale delle Terme di Caracalla

Rome I-00100 Italy

Tel.: +3906 570 527 14

Fax: +3906 570 551 37 E-Mail: peter.holmgren@fao.org Web: http://www.fao.org

Global Environment Facility (GEF)

57. Dr. Gonzalo Castro Biodiversity Team Leader

Global Environment Facility (GEF) 1818 H Street, N.W.

Washington DC 20433 United States of America Tel.: +202 473 1107

Fax: +202 614-0257
E-Mail: gcastro@thegef.org
Web: http://www.gefweb.org

International Maritime Organization (IMO)

58. Mr. René Coenen

Technical Secretary of GESAMP International Maritime Organization (IMO)

4 Albert Ambankment London SE1 7SR

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Tel.: +44 20 758 732 39 Fax: +44 20 758 732 10 E-Mail: rcoenen@imo.org

Mediterranean Action Plan of the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP/MAP)

59. Mr. Daniel Cebrian Menchero

Expert Marine Bioologist

Mediterranean Action Plan of the United Nations Environment

Programme (UNEP/MAP) Bd. de l'evironment, La Charguia

Tunis 1080 Tunisia

E-Mail: daniel.cebrian@rac-spa.org.tn

Web: http://rac-spa.org.tn

United Nations Development Programme

60. Ms. Nadine Smith

Programme Officer

Bangkok Sub- regional Resource Faculty (SURF)

United Nations Development Programme

UN Building, 12th. Floor

Rajdamnern Nok Ave.

Bangkok 10200

Thailand

Tel.: +66 2 288 2564

E-Mail: nadine.smith@undp.org

United Nations Development Programme (UNDP)

61. Ms. Janice Astbury

Consultant

Equator Initiative

United Nations Development Programme (UNDP)

304 East 45th Street

New York NY 10017

United States of America

Tel.: +514 524-2393 Fax: +514 939-2691

E-Mail: jastbury@cny-jcm.org

Web: http://www.undp.org

62. Dr. John Hough

Principal Technical Adviser in Biodiversity, GRF

Environmentally Sustainable Development Group United Nations Development Programme (UNDP)

304 East 45th Street, FF-9th Floor

New York NY 10017

United States of America

Tel.: +212 906 5560

Fax: +212 906 6690 / 906 6998

E-Mail: john.hough@undp.org

Web: http://www.undp.org

United Nations Development Programme (UNDP)

63. Dr. Charles McNeill

Environment Programme Team Manager and Biodiversity

Conservation & Poverty Reduction Advisor

United Nations Development Programme (UNDP)

304 East, 45th St. New York, NY 10017

United States of America

Tel.: +212 906 5960

Fax: +212 906 6973

E-Mail: charles.mcneill@undp.org

Web: http://www.undp.org

64. Mr. Sean Southey

Manager, Equator Initiative

United Nations Development Programme (UNDP)

304 East 45th Street

New York NY 10017

United States of America

Tel.: +1 212 9066676

Fax: +1 212 9066973

E-Mail: sean.southey@undp.org

Web: http://www.undp.org

United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO)

65. Dr. Salvatore Arico

Biodiversity Programme Officer

Division of Ecological Sciences

United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization

(UNESCO)

1, rue Miollis

Cedex 15

Paris 75732

France

Tel.: 33 1 45 68 40 90

Fax: 33 1 45 68 58 04

E-Mail: s.arico@unesco.org

Web: www.unesco.org/mab

United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO)

66. Mr. Natarajan Ishwaran

Chief, Natural Heritage Section

World Heritage Centre

United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization

(UNESCO)

7, Place de Fontenoy

Paris 75352

France

Tel.: +33 1 45 681559 Fax: +33 1 45 685570

E-Mail: n.ishwaran@unesco.org

Web: www.unesco.org/mab

United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP)

67. Mr. Ivar A. Baste

Counsellor

United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP)

P.O. Box 30552

Nairobi Kenya

Tel.: +2542 337 121

Fax: +2542 216 009

E-Mail: iabaste@hotmail.com

Web: http://www.unep.org

68. Ms. Helen de Jode

Division for GEF Co-ordination

United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP)

P.O. Box 30552

Nairobi

Kenya

E-Mail: helen.dejode@unep.org Web: http://www.unep.org United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP)

69. Dr. Margaret M. Oduk

Biodiversity and Biotechnology Unit

Division of Environmental Commission

United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP)

P.O. Box 30552

Nairobi

Kenya

Tel.: +254 2 441046 / 445297

Fax: +254 2 440306

E-Mail: tichnbi@net2000ke.com

Web: http://www.unep.org

70. Dr. Nehemiah K. Rotich

Chief, Biodiversity and Biotechnology Unit

LINEP/DEC

United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP)

P.O. Box 30552

Nairobi

Kenya

Tel.: +254 2 221 055

Fax: + 254 2 215 105

E-Mail: nehemiah.rotich@unep.org

Web: http://www.unep.org

71. Mr. Jinhua Zhang

Programme Officer

DEWA

United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP)

P.O. Box 30552

Nairobi

Kenya

Tel.: +254 2 623832

Fax: +254-2-623-943

E-Mail: jinhua.zhang@unep.org

Web: http://www.unep.org

United Nations Environment Programme, World Conservation Monitoring Centre (UNEP-WCMC)

72. Philip Bubb

United Nations Environment Programme, World Conservation Monitoring Centre (UNEP-WCMC)

219 Huntingdon Road Cambridge CB3 ODL

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Web: http://www.unep-wcmc.org

73. Dr. Mark Collins

Director

United Nations Environment Programme, World Conservation

Monitoring Centre (UNEP-WCMC)

219 Huntingdon Road Cambridge CB3 ODL

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Tel.: +44 1223 277 314 Fax: +44 1223 277 136

E-Mail: mark.collins@unep-wcmc.org Web: http://www.unep-wcmc.org

74. Emily Corcoran

United Nations Environment Programme, World Conservation

Monitoring Centre (UNEP-WCMC)

219 Huntingdon Road Cambridge CB3 ODL

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Web: http://www.unep-wcmc.org

75. Mireille de Heer

United Nations Environment Programme, World Conservation

Monitoring Centre (UNEP-WCMC)

219 Huntingdon Road Cambridge CB3 ODL

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Web: http://www.unep-wcmc.org

United Nations Environment Programme, World Conservation Monitoring Centre (UNEP-WCMC)

76. Dr. Ed Green

United Nations Environment Programme, World Conservation

Monitoring Centre (UNEP-WCMC)

219 Huntingdon Road Cambridge CB3 ODL

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Web: http://www.unep-wcmc.org

77. Mr. Jerry Harrison

United Nations Environment Programme, World Conservation

Monitoring Centre (UNEP-WCMC)

219 Huntingdon Road Cambridge CB3 ODL

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Tel.: +44 1223 277 314 Fax: +44 1223 277 136

E-Mail: jerry.harrison@unep-wcmc.org
Web: http://www.unep-wcmc.org

78. Tim Johnson

United Nations Environment Programme, World Conservation

Monitoring Centre (UNEP-WCMC)

219 Huntingdon Road Cambridge CB3 ODL

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Web: http://www.unep-wcmc.org

79. Cristoph Zockler

United Nations Environment Programme, World Conservation

Monitoring Centre (UNEP-WCMC)

219 Huntingdon Road Cambridge CB3 ODL

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Web: http://www.unep-wcmc.org

United Nations University (UNU)

80. Mr. Sam Johnston United Nations University (UNU) 53-70 Jingumae 5-Chome Shibuya-Ku Tokyo 150-8304 Japan

> Tel.: 81 3 5467 1993 Fax: 81 3 5467 2324 E-Mail: johnston@ias.unu.edu Web: http://www.ias.unu.edu

World Bank (WB)

81. Dr. Kathy Mackinnon
Senior Biodiversity Specialist
Environment Department
World Bank (WB)
1818 H Street NW
Washington DC 20433
United States of America

Tel.: +202 458 4682 Fax: +202 522 1142

E-Mail: kmackinnon@worldbank.org
Web: http://www.worldbank.org

 Dr. Tony Whitten Senior Biodiversity Specialist World Bank (WB) 1818 H Street NW Washington DC 20433 United States of America

> Tel.: +1 202 458-2252 Fax: +1 202 522-1666 E-Mail: twhitten@worldbank.org Web: http://www.worldbank.org

BIONET-INTERNATIONAL

83. Dr. Nicholas King

Director

BIONET-INTERNATIONAL

Bakeham Lane Egham, Surrey TW20 9TY

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Tel.: +44 1491 829 036 / 8 Fax: +44 1491 829 082

E-Mail: n.king@bionet-intl.org, bionet@bionet-intl.org

Web: http://www.bionet-intl.org

Comité Permanent Inter-Etats de Lutte Contre la Sécheresse dans le Sahel

84. Mr. Abdoulie Danso

Expert en gestion des ressources naturelles

Permanent Inter-State Committee for Drought Control in the Sahel Comité Permanent Inter-Etats de Lutte Contre la Sécheresse dans

le Sahel BP 7049 Ouagadougou Burkina Faso

Tel.: +226 37 41 25 / 37 41 26 Fax: +226 37 41 32

E-Mail: paspccd@cilss.bf

Commonwealth Secretariat

85. Prof. James Seyani

Chief Programme Officer

Science and Technology Division

Commonwealth Secretariat

Marlborough House, Pall Mall

London SWN 5HX

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Tel.: +44 20 7747 6214 Fax: +44 20 7839 6174

E-Mail: j.seyani@commonwealth.int, seyanijh@aol.com

Web: http://www.comsci.org

Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research (CGIAR)

86. Dr. Toby Hodgkin

IPGRI

Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research (CGIAR)

IPGRI - Via dei Tre Denari 472/9 Maccarese, Rome I-00057

Italy

Tel.: 39 06 611 82 12 Fax: 39 06 619 79 661 E-Mail: t.hodgkin@cgiar.org

Web: http://www.cgiar.org/ipgri

European Environment Agency

87. Ms. Vibeke Horlyck

Officer

Biodiversity and Monitoring European Environment Agency Kongens Nytorv NR6

Copenhagen DK-1050

Denmark

Tel.: 33 140 79 57 05 Fax: 33 140 79 38 67 E-Mail: horlyck@mnhn.fr Web: www.eea.eu.int

88. Ms. Dominique Richard

European Environment Agency

Kongens Nytorv NR6 Copenhagen DK-1050

Denmark

Tel.: +33 140793870 Fax: +33 140793867 E-Mail: drichard@mnhn.fr Web: www.eea.eu.int

Global Biodiversity Information Facility (GBIF)

89. Dr. James Edwards

Director

Global Biodiversity Information Facility (GBIF)

Universitetsparken 15 Copenhagen DK-2100

Denmark

Tel.: +4535 32 14 70 Fax: +4535 32 41 80 E-Mail: jedwards@gbif.org

90. Ms. Beatriz Torres

Senior Programme Officer Information and Capacity Building

Global Biodiversity Information Facility (GBIF)

Universitetsparken 15 Copenhagen DK-2100 Denmark

Tel.: +45 353-21474 Fax: +45 353-21480

E-Mail: btorres@gbif.org, btorres@zmuc.ku.dk

International Tropical Timber Organization (ITTO)

91. Mr. Alastair Sarre

International Tropical Timber Organization (ITTO) International Organizations Center - 5th Floor, Pacifico - Yokohama 1-1-1, Minato-Mirai, Nishi-Ku

Yokohama 220-0012

Japan

Tel.: +8145 223 1110 Fax: +8145 223 1111 E-Mail: itto@itto.or.jp Web: www.itto.or.jp

IUCN - The World Conservation Union

92. Dr. Susan Mainka

Head - Species Programme

IUCN - The World Conservation Union

Rue Mauverney 28 Gland CH-1196 Switzerland

> Tel.: +41 22 999 01 52 Fax: +41 22 999 00 15

E-Mail: sue.mainka@iucn.org, SAM@hq.iucn.org

Web: http://www.iucn.org

93. Dr. Simon Stuart

IUCN - The World Conservation Union c/o Conservation International 1919 M Street NW, suite 600 Washington DC 20036 United States of America

Tel.: 1 202 912 1490 Fax: 1 202 912 0772 E-Mail: simon.stuart@iucn.org

Web: http://www.iucn.org

Organization of American States (OAS)

94. Mr. Richard Huber

Organization of American States (OAS)

1889 F Street N.W. Washington D.C. 20006 United States of America Fax: +202 458 3227

Ramsar Convention on Wetlands

95. Mr. Delmar Blasco Secretary General

Ramsar Convention on Wetlands

Rue Mauverney 28 Gland CH-1196 Switzerland

Tel.: +41 22 999 0180 Fax: +41 22 999 0169 E-Mail: blasco@ramsar.org Web: http://www.ramsar.org

The New Partnership for African Development

96. Prof. Wiseman Nkuhlu
The New Partnership for African Development
P. O. Box 1234
Midrand,
HalfHouse 1685
South Africa

Tel.: +27 11 313 313 3059 Fax: +2711 313 3583 E-Mail: mandilakem@nepad.org Web: http://www.nepad.org

BirdLife International

97. Dr. Léon Bennun BirdLife International Wellbrook Court Girton Road Cambridge CB3 0NA

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

E-Mail: leon.bennun@birdlife.org.uk
Web: http://www.birdlife.net

Botanic Gardens Conservation International (BGCI)

98. Dr. Peter Wyse Jackson Secretary General

Botanic Gardens Conservation International (BGCI) Descanso House, 199 Kew Road, Richmond Surrey TW9 3BW

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Tel.: +44 208 332 5953 Fax: +44 208 332 5956 E-Mail: pwj@bgci.rbgkew.org.uk

Census of Marine Life/Ocean Biographic Information System

99. Mrs. Colleen Merrett

Census of Marine Life/Ocean Biographic Information System Muttlebury's Mead Chard Street

Thorncombe Nr. Chard

TA20 4NB

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Tel.: +44 1460 301 09

E-Mail: colleen@macrourid.freeserve.co.uk

Conservation International

100. Dr. Elizabeth Kennedy Conservation International 1919 M. Street N.W. Suite 600 Washington DC 20036 United States of America

Tel.: + 202 912-1358 Fax: + 202 912-1044

E-Mail: e.kennedy@conservation.org Web: http://www.conservation.org

 Ms. Rebecca Livermore Conservation International 1919 M. Street N.W. Suite 600 Washington DC 20036 United States of America Tel.: + 202 912-1570

E-Mail: r.livermore@conservation.org Web: http://www.conservation.org

European Centre for Nature Conservation

102. Mr. Ben Delbaere

European Centre for Nature Conservation P.O. Box 90154 Tilburg 5000 LG The Netherlands

Tel.: +3113 594 4944 Fax: +3113 594 4945 E-Mail: delbaere@ecnc.nl Web: http://www.ecnc.nl

Fauna & Flora International

103. Mr. Barney Dickson Fauna & Flora International Great Eastern House, Tenison Road Cambridge CB1 2TT United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Fax: +44 12 23 46 14 81

E-Mail: barney.dickson@fauna-flora.org

Fauna & Flora International

104. Mr. Martin Hollands **Deputy Director** Fauna & Flora International

Great Eastern House, Tenison Road

Cambridge CB1 2TT

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Tel.: +44 1223 571000 Fax: +44 1223 461481

E-Mail: info@fauna-flora.org, martin.hollands@fauna-flora.org

Foundation for International Environmental Law and Development (FIELD)

105. Ms. Carolina Lasén Diaz

Foundation for International Environmental Law and Development

(FIELD)

52-53 Russell Square London WC1B 4HP

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Tel.: +44 2 07 637 7950 Fax: +44 2 07 637 7951 E-Mail: carolina.lasen@field.org.uk Web: http://www.field.org.uk

Global Canopy Programme (GCP)

106. Mr. Andrew Mitchell

Global Canopy Programme (GCP) Halifax House, University of Oxford

6 South Parks Road Oxford OX1 3UB

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Tel.: +44 1 865 271 036 Fax: +44 1865 271 035 E-Mail: k.secoy@globalcanopy.org Web: www.globalcanopy.org

Haribon Foundation

107. Mr. Neil Aldrind Mallari Haribon Foundation 4/F Fil Garcia Tower 140 Kalavaan Ave. Diliman Quezon City 1101 **Philippines**

> Tel.: +63 2 433 3476 Fax: +63 2 924 8978 E-Mail: amallari@haribon.org.ph

INBio

108. Mr. Rodrigo Gamez

INBio

PO Box 22 Santo Domingo

Heredia

Costa Rica

Fax: +506 244 2816 E-Mail: rgamez@inbio.ac.cr Web: http://www.inbio.ac.cr

International Institute for Environment & Development (IIED)

109. Ms. Krystyna Swiderska

Research Associate

International Institute for Environment & Development (IIED)

3, Endsleigh St.,

London WC1H ODD WC1H ODD

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Tel.: +44 202 738 82117 Fax: +44 202 7388 2826 E-Mail: krystyna.swiderska@iied.org

Web: http://www.iied.org

Kadoorie Farm & Botanic Garden, China

110. Dr. John Fellowes Kadoorie Farm & Botanic Garden, China c/o 44 Hampden Road Kingston KT1 3HG

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Tel.: +44 20 8546 5089 E-Mail: ktjrf@kfbg.org

Millennium Assessment Secretariat

111. Dr. Walter Reid Acting Science Director Millennium Assessment Secretariat c/o ICLARM PO Box 500 GPO Penany 10670 Malaysia

Tel.: +60 4 626 1606 x524 Fax: +60 4 626 5530

E-Mail: reid@millenniumassessment.org

Nature Kenya/Birdlife International

112. Mr. Paul Matiku
Executive Director
Nature Kenya/Birdlife International
P.O. Box 44486
Nairobi 00100
Kenya

Tel.: 254 2 3749957 Fax: 254 2 3741049

E-Mail: director-naturekenya@mitsuminet.com,

Plantlife International

113. Mr. Stanley Johnson Plantlife International 60 Regarts Park Road London

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Tel.: 44 20 4422 4258 Fax: 44 20 7483 1390 E-Mail: stanleyjohnson@msn.com

Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew

114. Dr. Peter Crane Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew Richmond Surrey TW9 3AE

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Fax: +44-20-83-32-51-09 E-Mail: p.crane@rbgkew.org.uk Web: http://www.rbgkew.org.uk

Royal Society for the Protection of the Birds (RSPB)

115. Ms. Alistair Gammell

Royal Society for the Protection of the Birds (RSPB) The Lodge, Sandy Bedfordshire SG19 2DL

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Tel.: +44 1767 680 551 Fax: +44 1767 683 211

E-Mail: alistair.gammell@rspb.org.uk

116. Ms. Joy Hyvarinen

International Treaties Adviser
Royal Society for the Protection of the Birds (RSPB)

The Lodge, Sandy Bedfordshire SG19 2DL

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Tel.: +44 1767 680 551 Fax: +44 1767 683 211 E-Mail: joy.hyvarinen@rspb.org.uk

Royal Society for the Protection of the Birds (RSPB)

117. Ms. Joanna Phillips

Royal Society for the Protection of the Birds (RSPB)

The Lodge, Sandy Bedfordshire SG19 2DL

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

E-Mail: joanna.phillips@rspb.org.uk

Stakeholder Forum for Our Common Future

118. Ms. Georgina Ayre

Stakeholder Forum for Our Common Future

Fax: +44 20 793 05893

E-Mail: info@earthsummit2002.org, gayre@earthsummit2002.org

The Gran Canaria Group

119. Dr. David Bramwell

Director

The Gran Canaria Group

Jardin Botanico Canario Vierra y Clavijo

Aptd. 14 Tafira Alta Gran Canaria

Spain

Tel.: +34 928 219 582 Fax: +34 928 219 581

E-Mail: dbramwell@grancanaria.com

The Natural History Museum

120. Dr. Chris Lyal

The Natural History Museum

Cromwell Road London SW7 5BD

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Tel.: +44 207 942 5113 Fax: +44 207 942 5229 E-Mail: chcl@nhm.ac.uk

The Nature Conservancy

121. Dr. Charles V. Barber
The Nature Conservancy

1630 Connecticut Ave. NW #300

Valle Verde 5, Pasig, Washington D.C.

United States of America

Tel.: 202 518 2052 Fax: 202 387 4823

E-Mail: cvbarber@marine.org

Web: www.nature.org

122. Mr. Frank Biasi

The Nature Conservancy 4245 North Fairfax Drive

Suite 100

Arlington VA- 22203-1606

United States of America

Web: www.nature.org

123. Mr. Sheldon Cohen

Director

Conservation Finance and Policy

The Nature Conservancy 4245 North Fairfax Drive

Suite 100

Arlington VA- 22203-1606

United States of America

Tel.: 1 703 841 2644 Fax: 1 703 525 0208

E-Mail: scohen@tnc.org

Web: www.nature.org

124. Mr. Carter Roberts

The Nature Conservancy 4245 North Fairfax Drive

Suite 100

Arlington VA- 22203-1606

United States of America

Tel.: 1 703 247 3731 Fax: 1 703 841 4880 E-Mail: croberts@tnc.org

Web: www.nature.org

The Nature Conservancy

125. Mr. Konrad von Ritter The Nature Conservancy 4245 North Fairfax Drive Suite 100

> Arlington VA- 22203-1606 United States of America

Tel.: +1 703 841 2087 E-Mail: kritter@tnc.org Web: www.nature.org

The Royal Society

126. Dr. Richard Heap

Manager

Science Advice Section The Royal Society 6- 9 Carlton House Terrace

6- 9 Carlton House Terrace London SW1Y 5AG

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Fax: +44-20-74-51-26-92 E-Mail: richard.heap@royalsoc.ac.uk

127. Ms. Rachel Quinn

Senior Manager - Science Policy

The Royal Society

6- 9 Carlton House Terrace

London SW1Y 5AG

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Fax: +44 20 7451 2692 E-Mail: rachel.quinn@royalsoc.ac.uk

Wildlife Conservation Society

128. Mathew Hatchwell

Wildlife Conservation Society c/o Zoological Society of London

Regents Park London NW1 4RY

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Tel.: +44-7976-605-770 Fax: +44-1795-830-051 E-Mail: mhatchwell@wcs.org

World Wide Fund for Nature (WWF) International

129. Mr. Jonathan Loh

World Wide Fund for Nature (WWF) International

Avenue du Mont-Blanc 27

Gland CH-1196 Switzerland

Tel.: + 44 17 30 89 25 18 E-Mail: jloh@vispa.com

Web: http://panda.org

130. Mr. Gordon Shepherd

World Wide Fund for Nature (WWF) International

Avenue du Mont-Blanc 27

Gland CH-1196 Switzerland

Tel.: +41 22 364 9501

Fax: +41 22 364 8307

E-Mail: gshepherd@wwfint.org

Web: http://panda.org

Zoological Society of London

131. Dr. Georgina Mace

Institute of Zoology

Zoological Society of London

Regent's Park

London NW1 4RY

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Tel.: +44 207 449 6600

Fax: +44 207 449 5870

E-Mail: georgina.mace@ioz.ac.uk

Industry

British Petrolium

132. Ms. Louise Johnson **Biodiversity Advisor**

Group Health Safety and Environment

British Petrolium Chertsey Road Sunbury-upon-Thames Middlesex TW16 7LN

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Tel.: +44 1932-774044 Fax: +44 1932-774057 E-Mail: JohnsoL12@bp.com

International Petroleum Industry Environmental **Conservation Association**

133. Mr. John Campbell

International Petroleum Industry Environmental Conservation

Association Monmouth House 87-93 Westbourne Grove

87-93 Westbourne Grove

London W2 4UL

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Tel.: +44 207 633 2377 Fax: +44 207 633 2309 E-Mail: john.campbell@ogp.org.uk Web: http://www.ipieca.org

134. Mr. David Mansell-Moullin

Project Manager

International Petroleum Industry Environmental Conservation

Association

5th Floor, 209-215 Blackfriars Road

London SE1 8NL

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Tel.: 44 207 633 2388 Fax: 44 207 633 2389

E-Mail: mansell_moullin@ipieca.org Web: http://www.ipieca.org

Premier Oil

135. Dr. Richard Jones

Manager of CSR Premier Oil

23 Lower Belgrave Street

London SW1W 0NR

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Tel.: +44 20 7730 1111 Fax: +44 20 7730 4696 E-Mail: Rjones@PREMIER-OIL.com

Premier Oil- Pakistan

136. Mr. Basit Khan

Pakistan

Premier-Kufpec Pakistan B.V. Premier Oil- Pakistan 5th Floor (Eastern Side) - Evacuee Trust Complex F-51, Sir Aga Khan Road - P.O. Box 2438 Islamabad

Tel.: +92 51 111-211-311 Fax: +92 51 282-17-85 E-Mail: bkhan@premier-oil.com

137. Mr. Ali Sheik

LEAD - PAKISTAN Premier Oil- Pakistan F-7 Mavkoz

Lead-House Islamabad Pakistan

Tel.: 92-51-265-15-11 Tel.: 92-51-265-15-11 Fax: 92-51-265-15-12 E-Mail: atscheikh@lead.org

Industry

Rio Tinto

138. Mr. Stuart Anstee
Environmental Policy Adviser
Rio Tinto
HSE Department
6 St. Jame's Square
London SWY 4LD
United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Tel.: +44 20 7753 2342 Fax: +44 20 7753 2413 E-Mail: stuart.antsee@riotinto.com

Education/University

National Botanical Institute

139. Professor Brian Huntley National Botanical Institute Private Bag X7 Claremont 7735 South Africa

> Tel.: +27 21 762-1166 Fax: +27 21761-4687 E-Mail: huntley@nbict.nbi.ac.za

University of Cambridge

140. Dr. Andrew Balmford Senior Lecturer Department of Zoology University of Cambridge **Downing Street** Cambridge CB2 3EJ

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Tel.: +44 1223 331770 Fax: +44-122 333 17 70 E-Mail: apb12@hermes.cam.ac.uk

141. Dr. Rhys Green University of Cambridge **Downing Street** Cambridge

CB2 3EJ

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Tel.: +44 1223 762-840 E-Mail: reg29@hemes.cam.ac.uk

University of East Anglia

142. Dr. John Reynolds Professor

School of Biological Sciences University of East Anglia School of Biological Sciences Norwich NR4 7TJ

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Fax: +44-16-03-592-250 E-Mail: reynolds@uea.ac.uk

SCBD Staff

Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity

143. Mr. Hamdallah Zedan

Executive Secretary

Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity

393 St. Jacques Street

Office 300

Montreal H2Y 1N9

Canada

Tel.: +514 288 2220 Fax: +514 288 6588

E-Mail: hamdallah.zedan@biodiv.org

Web: http://www.biodiv.org

144. Mr. Bob Kakuyo

Senior Programme Officer Implementation & Outreach

Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity

393 St. Jacques Street

Office 300

Montreal H2Y 1N9

Canada

Tel.: +514 287-7007 Fax: +514 288-6588 E-Mail: bob.kakuyo@biodiv.org

Web: http://www.biodiv.org

145. Mr. Kalemani Jo Mulongoy

Head STTM

Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity

393 St. Jacques Street

Office 300

Montreal H2Y 1N9

Canada

Tel.: +1(514) 287 7027 Fax: +1(514) 288 6588 E-Mail: jo.mulongoy@biodiv.org Web: http://www.biodiv.org

Others

Martin-Bah Consultants

146. Ms. Annabel Martin-Bah Martin-Bah Consultants 22 Tudor Rose Court 25 Fann Street London ECZY 8DY United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Tel.: +44 207 638 3307 E-Mail: amv030393@aol.com

The London School of Economics and Political Sciences

147. Ms. Michelle Laurie

The London School of Economics and Political Sciences 1-7 Endsleigh Place flat S21

London WC1H OPW

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Tel.: +44 781 629 7944 E-Mail: m.k.laurie@lse.ac.uk

148. Mr. Vicente Filho Manzione

The London School of Economics and Political Sciences 1-7 Endsleigh Place flat S21 London WC1H OPW

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Tel.: +44 870 873 4587 ext.4847 E-Mail: V.F.Manzione@lse.ac.uk

Annex II

PROGRAMME

Wednesday, 21 May

0800 - 0900 Registration

0900 – 1000 Plenary session 1: Opening of the meeting

Introduction of speakers: Mark Collins

- Elliot Morley MP, Parliamentary Under-Secretary (Fisheries, Water, Nature Protection)
- Hans Hoogeven, Chair of CBD COP Bureau
- Hamdallah Zedan, Executive Secretary of CBD
- Charles McNeill, United Nations Development Programme
- Mark Collins, Director of UNEP World Conservation Monitoring Centre

1000 – 1020 Coffee/tea break

1020 – 1245 Plenary session 2: Overview, key issues and presentation of critical questions to be addressed by the breakout groups

Chair: Natarajan Ishwaran (World Heritage Convention)

- 1020 1045 The Convention on Biological Diversity as a framework for meeting the 2010 target (General overview: objectives, expected outcomes; putting the meeting in the context of the Strategic Plan of the Convention on Biological Diversity, other conventions and their strategic plans, global processes, WSSD including Type II partnerships Millennium Development Goals, etc.). **Jo Mulongoy** (CBD Secretariat)
- 1045 1105 Objective 1: Understanding and measuring biodiversity loss: status and trends of biodiversity; current and projected rates, causes and impacts of biodiversity loss, methods for measuring the rate of biodiversity loss. **Robert Scholes** (South Africa)
- Objective 2: Addressing the 2010 target and the many other biodiversity-related targets: what are the targets, how do they relate to each, can we address them in a coordinated manner. **Jorge Soberon** (Mexico)
- Objective 3: Key initiatives in addressing biodiversity loss: exploring and identifying how existing and proposed initiatives to reduce biodiversity loss such as MEA implementation at national and international levels, address the 2010 target. **Delmar Blasco** (Ramsar Convention)
- Objective 4: Exploring and identifying how to report on progress and achievements. **Walt Reid** (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment)
- 1205 1230 Discussion
- 1230 1245 Introduction to breakout sessions. **Jeremy Harrison** (UNEP-WCMC)

1245 – 1400 Lunch break

1400 – 1700 Breakout sessions

Four breakout groups will meet concurrently during three sessions on Wednesday afternoon (1400-1700) and twice on Thursday (0945-1300 and 1400-1800). Between them they will cover the four objectives of the meeting at both national and international levels.

Group A: Chairs: Jim Armstrong (CITES) and Alfred Oteng Yeboah (Ghana)

Group B: Chairs: Max Kitchell (Australia) and Setijati Sastrapradja (Indonesia)

Group C: Chairs: Asghar Fazel (Iran) and John Hough (UNDP)

Group D: Chairs: David Brackett (Canada) and Diann Black Layne (Antigua)

Understanding and measuring biodiversity loss: The purpose of this session is to generate an improved understanding of biodiversity loss and its impacts, and, based on this, to identify a process for moving towards an internationally agreed method of (and ability to) objectively and quantifiably assess the annual rate of biodiversity loss. The groups are expected to recognize that while there are many national initiatives attempting to assess biodiversity, there are, as yet, both considerable duplications and gaps in the system, and a need for increased collaboration and coordination.

Group A will consider this issue from national and local perspectives

Group B will consider this issue from the international (global and regional) perspectives.

Addressing the 2010 target and other multiple biodiversity-related targets: The aim of this session is to identify a process for establishing clear relationships between the 2010 target and the many other biodiversity-related targets that have been internationally agreed, in order to identify how they relate and whether a single harmonized set of measurements, actions and reports can suffice for all.

Group C will consider this issue at from national and local perspectives.

Group D will consider this issue from the international (global and regional) perspective.

1845 – Darwin Initiative lecture and reception

Participants are invited by the United Kingdom Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs to attend the *Darwin Initiative Lecture* which is being given this year by **Peter H. Raven**, Director of the Missouri Botanical Garden. The title of the lecture will be "Our Choice: How Many Species Will Survive The 21st Century?". The lecture will take place at 10 St James Square, and will be followed by a reception hosted by the Department.

Thursday, 22 May

0900 – 0945 Plenary session 3: Progress reports from breakout groups

Chair: Elaine Fisher (Jamaica)

`0945 – 1300 Breakout sessions (continued)

Reporting on biodiversity loss: This session with explore and identify how to report on the annual rate of biodiversity loss, and this progress and achievements in reducing that loss. The purpose of the session is to explore and identify ways and means of reporting

on the objective and quantitative measures of the rate of biodiversity loss discussed in group sessions on the previous day.

Group A will consider this issue from national and local perspectives

Group B will consider this issue from the international (global and regional) perspectives.

Key initiatives in addressing biodiversity loss: This session will explore and identify how to build synergies between key initiatives related to the achievement of the 2010 target and other biodiversity-related targets and how to report on the activities and achievements of these initiatives in reducing the causes of biodiversity loss. The group will particularly focus on international agreements and programmes aimed at achieving conservation targets.

Group C will consider this issue at from national and local perspectives.

Group D will consider this issue from the international (global and regional) perspective.

1300 - 1400 Lunch break

1400 – 1800 Breakout sessions

The *same four breakout groups* meet again to continue discussion on any outstanding issues, and to identify follow-up activities based on earlier discussion. This will include discussion of:

- Mechanisms and processes
- Roles, responsibilities and timelines
- Follow up with governance and advisory bodies
- Relationship to funding mechanisms
- Ensuring collaboration and partnership
- Links to WSSD outcomes including WSSD partnerships
- Reporting processes and schedules
- Targeting of reporting (including format and content)
- Public education and awareness issues

1830 – 2000 Celebration of the International Biodiversity Day

Friday, 23 May

0900 - 1030 Plenary session 4

Chair: Elaine Fisher (Jamaica)

0900 – 0930 Report from breakout group A: Questions and discussion

0930 – 1000 Report from breakout group B: Questions and discussion

1000 – 1030 General discussion

1030 – 1100 Tea/coffee break

1100 – 1300 Plenary session 4 (continued):

1100 – 1130 Report from breakout group C: Questions and discussion

UNEP/CBD/COP/7/INF/22

Page 54

1130 – 1200 Report from breakout group D: Questions and discussion

1200 – 1230 General discussion

1230 – 1400 Lunch Break

1400 – 1500 Plenary session 5

Chair: Jan Plesnik (Czech Republic)

1400 – 1420Summary and synthesis; next steps. **Cristian Samper** (Smithsonian Institution)

1420 – 1500 Comments and discussion

1500 – 1530 Closure of the meeting

Closing remarks by organizers

Hamdallah Zedan, Executive Secretary of CBD

• Charles McNeill, United Nations Development Programme

• Mark Collins, Director of UNEP World Conservation Monitoring Centre

OTHER RELEVANT GOALS AND TARGETS

A. Millennium Development Goals

The Millennium Development Goals summarize the development goals agreed on at international conferences and world summits during the 1990s. At the end of the decade, world leaders distilled the key goals and targets in the Millennium Declaration (September 2000). Based on the declaration, UNDP worked with other UN departments, funds and programmes, the World Bank, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) on a concise set of goals, numerical targets and quantifiable indicators to assess progress. These are known as the the 'Millennium Development Goals', and include 8 goals, 18 targets and over 40 indicators. The UN General Assembly approved these in 2001 as part of the Secretary-General's Millennium Roadmap.

Goal 1. Eradicate extreme poverty and hunger

Target 1: Halve, between 1990 and 2015, the proportion of people living on less than a dollar a day

Target 2: Halve, between 1990 and 2015, the proportion of people who suffer from hunger.

Goal 2. Achieve universal primary education

Target 3: Ensure that, by 2015, children everywhere, boys and girls alike, will be able to complete a full course of primary schooling.

Goal 3. Promote gender equality and empower women

Target 4: Eliminate gender disparities in primary and secondary education, preferably by 2005, and to all levels of education no later than 2015.

Goal 4. Reduce child mortality

Target 5: Reduce by two thirds, between 1990 and 2015, the mortality rate among children under five.

Goal 5. Improve maternal health

Target 6: Reduce by three-quarters, between 1990 and 2015, the maternal mortality rate.

Goal 6. Combat HIV/AIDS, malaria and other diseases

Target 7: Have halted by 2015 and begun to reverse the spread of HIV/AIDS.

Have halted by 2015 and begun to reverse the incidence of malaria and other major diseases.

Goal 7. Ensure environmental sustainability

Target 8: Integrate the principles of sustainable development into country policies and programmes and reverse the loss of environmental resources.

Target 9: Halve by 2015 the proportion of people without sustainable access to safe drinking water.

Target 10: By 2020 achieve significant improvement in the lives of at least 100 million slum dwellers.

Goal 8. Develop a global partnership for development

Target 11: Develop further an open, rule-based, predictable, non-discriminatory trading and financial system that includes a commitment to good governance, development and poverty reduction

Target 12: Address the special needs of least developed countries.

Target 13: Address the special needs of landlocked countries and small island developing states.

Target 14: Deal comprehensively with the debt problems of developing countries through national and international measures in order to make debt sustainable in the long term.

Page 56

Target 15: In cooperation with developing countries, develop and implement strategies for decent and productive work for youth

Target 16: In cooperation with pharmaceutical companies, provide access to affordable essential drugs in developing countries

Target 17: In cooperation with the private sector, make available the benefits of new technologies, especially information and communications technologies.

B. Global Plant Conservation Strategy

The Global Plant Conservation Strategy adopted by the Conference of Parties at its sixth meeting in Decision VI/9 includes 16 outcome-oriented targets in five groups. The target date of 2010 was set to synchronize with the Convention's Strategic Plan.

a) Understanding and documenting plant diversity:

Target 1: A widely accessible working list of known plant species, as a step towards a complete world flora.

Target 2: An assessment of the conservation status of all known plant species, at national, regional and international levels.

Target 3: Development of models with protocols for plant conservation and sustainable use, based on research and practical experience.

b) Conserving plant diversity

Target 4: At least 10 percent of each of the world's ecological regions effectively conserved.

Target 5: Protection of 50 per cent of the most important areas for plant diversity assured.

Target 6: At least 30 per cent of production lands managed consistent with the conservation of plant diversity.

Target 7: 60 per cent of the world's threatened species effectively conserved in situ.

Target 8: 60 per cent of threatened plant species in accessible *ex situ* collections, preferably in the country of origin, and 10 per cent of them included in recovery and restoration programmes.

Target 9: 70 per cent of the genetic diversity of crops and other major socio-economically valuable plant species conserved, and associated local and indigenous knowledge maintained.

Target 10: Management plans in place for at least 100 major alien species that threaten plants, plant communities and associated habitats and ecosystems.

c) Using plant diversity sustainably

Target 11: No species of wild flora endangered by international trade.

Target 12: 30 per cent of plant-based products derived from sources that are sustainably managed.

Target 13: The decline of plant resources, and associated indigenous and local knowledge, innovations and practices that support sustainable livelihoods, local food security and health care, halted.

d) Promoting education and awareness about plant diversity

Target 14: The importance of plant diversity and the need for its conservation incorporated into communication, educational and public awareness programmes.

c) Building capacity for the conservation of plant diversity

Target 15: The number of trained people working with appropriate facilities in plant conservation increased, according to national needs, to achieve the targets of this strategy.

Target 16: Networks for plant conservation activities established or strengthened at national, regional and international levels.

C. Plan of Implementation of the World Summit on Sustainable Development

The WSSD Plan of Implementation incorporates goals and targets that have arisen in a range of other international meetings, including the MDGs and the CBD's 2010 target. The Plan of Implementation includes the following (in chronological order):

- Facilitate implementation of the Montreal Protocol on Substances that Deplete the Ozone Layer by ensuring adequate replenishment of its fund by 2003/2005.
- Ensure the entry into force of the Rotterdam Convention on Prior Informed Consent Procedures for Certain Hazardous Chemicals and Pesticides in international Trade by 2003 and that of the Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants by 2004.
- Establish by 2004 a regular process under the United Nations for global reporting and assessment of the state of the marine environment.
- Undertake by 2004 initiatives aimed at implementing the Global Programme of Action for the Protection of the Marine Environment from Land-based Activities in small island developing States.
- Develop community-based initiatives on sustainable tourism by 2004.
- Undertake a full and comprehensive review of the implementation of the Barbados Programme of Action for the Sustainable Development of Small Island Developing States in 2004.
- Put into effect the international plan of action for the management of fishing capacity by 2005 and the international plan of action to prevent, deter and eliminate illegal, unreported and unregulated fishing by 2004.
- African countries should be in the process of developing and implementing food security strategies, within the context of national poverty eradication programmes, by 2005
- Take immediate steps to make progress in the formulation and elaboration of national strategies for sustainable development and begin their implementation by 2005
- Further develop a strategic approach to international chemicals management by 2005.
- Develop integrated water resources management and water efficiency plans by 2005.
- Accelerate implementation. of the IPF/IFF proposals for action by counties and by the Collaborative Partnership on Forests, and intensify efforts on reporting to the United Nations Forum on Forests to contribute to an assessment of progress in 2005
- Recommend to the United Nations General Assembly that it consider adopting a decade of education for sustainable development, starting in 2005.
- Reduce HIV prevalence among young men and women aged 13-24 by 25 per cent in the most affected countries by 2005 and globally by 2010, as well as combat malaria, tuberculosis and other diseases (GA).
- Make every effort to achieve substantial progress by the next Global Programme of Action conference in 2006 to protect the marine environment from land-based activities
- Implement the new globally harmonized system for the classification and labelling of chemicals with a view to having the system fully operational by 2008.
- Encourage the application by 2010 of the ecosystem approach (in sustainable management of fisheries and biodiversity).
- Improve access by developing countries to affordable, accessible, cost-effective, safe and environmentally sound alternatives to ozone-depleting substances by 2010.
- Achieve by 2010 of a significant reduction in the current rate of loss of biological diversity.
- Achieve improved health literacy on a global basis by 2010.
- Establish marine protected areas consistent with international law and based an scientific information, including representative networks by 2012.
- Maintain or restore fish stocks to levels that can produce the maximum sustainable yield with the aim of achieving these goals for depleted stocks on an urgent basis and where possible. not later than 2015.

- Halve, by the year 2015, the proportion of the world's people whose income is less than \$1 a day and the proportion of people who suffer from hunger (MDG).
- Reduce, by the year 2015, mortality rates for infants and children under 5 by two thirds, and maternal mortality rates by three quarters, of the prevailing rate in 2000 (MDG).
- Halve, by the year 2015, the proportion of people who are unable to reach or to afford safe drinking water (MDG) and the proportion of people who do not have access to basic sanitation.
- Ensure that, by 2015, children everywhere, boys and girls alike, will be able to complete a full course of primary schooling, and that girls and boys will have equal access to all levels of education relevant to national needs (MDG).
- By 2020, achieve a significant improvement in the lives of at least 100 million slum dwellers (MDG)
- Aim to achieve by 2020 that chemicals are used and produced in ways that lead to the minimization of significant adverse effects on human health and the environment.
- Implement NEPAD objectives on energy, which seek to secure access for at least 35 per cent of the African population within 20 years, especially in rural areas.

D. World Bank/WWF Forest Alliance

This alliance was established in 1998 to effect changes in forest policy and practices, to help safeguard biodiversity, and alleviate poverty. The Alliance set measurable targets to track progress, and to catalyse efforts by governments, the private sector, and civil society in the fight for forest conservation.

By 2005, the Alliance aims to bring about:

- 50 million hectares of new forest protected areas;
- 50 million hectares of existing, but highly threatened forest protected areas secured under effective management;
- 200 million hectares of production forests under independently certified sustainable management.

The rationale behind the Alliance's targets is twofold. First, they are 'challenge targets', intended to stimulate and catalyse the conservation efforts of multiple stakeholders. Second, they serve as operational objectives to focus the forest-sector operations of the World Bank and WWF.

E. WWF Marine Targets

To ensure a healthy and viable marine environment, WWF has set two global targets for the year 2020. By that date they aim to:

- stop overfishing and ensure that all exploitation of fish stocks is sustainable
- establish a network of well-managed marine protected areas covering at least ten per cent of the world's oceans
